
   

 
 

 

Nottingham City Council 

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee 

 
Date: Thursday 16 November 2023 
 
Time:  10:00am 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, 

NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 
 

 
Director for Legal and Governance 
 
Scrutiny and Audit Support Officer: Adrian Mann  Direct Dial: 0115 876 4353 
 

   
1  Apologies for Absence  

 
 

2  Declarations of Interests  
 

 

3  Minutes  
Minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 2023, for confirmation 
 

3 - 12 

4  Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2022/23  
Report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
 

13 - 64 

5  Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust - Maternity Services 
and Well-Led  
Report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
 

65 - 74 

6  Work Programme  
Report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
 

75 - 82 

7  Future Meeting Dates  
To agree to meet on: 

 Thursday 18 January 2024 at 10:00am, instead of on 

 Thursday 11 January 2024 at 10:00am 
 

 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



If you need advice on declaring an interest in any item on the agenda, please contact the 
Scrutiny and Audit Support Officer shown above before the day of the meeting, if possible. 
 
Citizens are advised that this meeting may be recorded by members of the public. Any 
recording or reporting on this meeting should take place in accordance with the Council’s 
policy on recording and reporting on public meetings, which is available at 
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/your-council/about-the-council/council-meetings-
decisions/recording-reporting-on-public-meetings. Individuals intending to record the 
meeting are asked to notify the Scrutiny and Audit Support Officer shown above in 
advance. 

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/your-council/about-the-council/council-meetings-decisions/recording-reporting-on-public-meetings
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/your-council/about-the-council/council-meetings-decisions/recording-reporting-on-public-meetings


Nottingham City Council  
 
Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee 
 
Minutes of the meeting held at Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, 
Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 3NG on 12 October 2023 from 10.03 am - 12.12 
pm 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Georgia Power (Chair) 
Councillor Saj Ahmad (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Maria Joannou (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Michael Edwards 
Councillor Eunice Regan 

Councillor Kirsty Jones 
Councillor Farzanna Mahmood 
Councillor Sarita-Marie Rehman-
Wall 
 

 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
 
Alex Ball - Director of Communications and Engagement, NHS 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care 
Board 

Oliver Bolam - Head of Mental Health, Nottingham City Council 
Phil Britt - Programme Director for Tomorrow’s NUH, 

Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust 
Jane Garrard - Senior Governance Officer, Nottingham City Council 
Richard Groves - Head of Access and Provision, Nottingham City 

Council  
James Lavender - Governance Officer, Nottingham City Council 
Adrian Mann - Scrutiny and Audit Support Officer, Nottingham City 

Council 
Gemma Whysall - Programme Director, NHS Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board 
Mark Wightman - Director of Strategy and Reconfiguration, NHS 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care 
Board  

Councillor Linda Woodings - Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care and Health, 
Nottingham City Council 

 
11  Apologies for Absence 

 
Councillor Kirsty Jones – Personal reasons 
Councillor Farzia Mahmood – Personal reasons 
Councillor Sarita-Marie Rehman-Wall – Personal reasons 
 
12  Declarations of Interests 

 
In the interests of transparency, Councillor Saj Ahmad stated that she is an employee 
of NHS England and the Department of Health and Social Care. 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee - 12.10.23 

13  Minutes 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2023 were confirmed as an 
accurate record and signed by the Chair. 
 
14  Adult Social Care Winter 2023/24 Preparedness 

 
Councillor Linda Woodings and Richard Groves, Portfolio Holder for Adult Social 
Care and Health and Head of Service for Access and Provision at Nottingham City 
Council, and Gemma Whysall, Programme Director at the NHS Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board (ICB) presented a report on the planning of 
Adult Social Care (ASC) services within the city to manage the upcoming demands of 
the winter months. The following information was highlighted:  
 

(a) the work of the ICB and the Council during the previous winter has left ASC 
provision within Nottingham in a much better position for this year’s winter. 
The discharge flow of patients leaving hospital remains good and there has 
been a significant improvement in the waiting lists for social care reablement 
since March 2023. These improvements have been supported by increased 
capacity provided through the Better Care Fund (BCF);  
 

(b) the Winter Plan is reviewed in daily meetings. Escalations and operational 
issues for hospital discharge are discussed on a regular basis. Additional 
capacity has been created within homecare through block contracts - 
brokerage and spot contracting with providers continues to feature, ensuring 
resilience in the homecare market to support discharge;  
 

(c) the Transfer of Care Hub launched in September 2022 and is now a key 
function of hospital discharge, using a full system approach to take people 
from discharge to their preferred care pathway within 24 hours. The Hub has 
begun piloting referrals from Pathway 2 settings (discharges requiring a period 
of rehabilitation or assessment in a community bed) that step down into 
Pathway 1 (supported discharge for going home);  
 

(d) the pressures in the Winter Plan reflect the national picture, which includes 
consistently high levels of hospital admissions impacted by strikes within the 
NHS, continued winter pressures and high demand for social care services. 
However, the use of interim beds in Nottingham has reduced successfully to 
just two internal homes with a total of ten beds. This is a reduction from six 
homes and forty beds since March 2023; 
 

(e) the Council’s ASC Team is part of a full system partnership approach to 
maintaining a good flow into the community from hospital and demonstrating 
resilience and responsiveness at times of critical need. As part of 
transformation work within the Council, online projects are being developed as 
part of a ‘reduce, prevent, delay’ approach to health and social care 
intervention. Trusted assessors are in place for social care enablement and 
live data is being used to match demand with capacity. Processes are 
underway to accredit more homecare providers, with support provided to 
people being discharged from hospital by booking times for discharge, booking 
transport and enabling homecare access to their property at the right time. 

Page 4



Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee - 12.10.23 

 
During the discussion and in response to questions from the Committee, the following 
points were made: 
 

(f) the Council and the ICB take full account of the risk of snow or of a particularly 
harsh winter as part of developing the annual Winter Plan; 
 

(g) the Transfer of Care Hub is part of a wider Multi-Disciplinary Hub that involves 
Nottingham City Council, Nottinghamshire County Council, the Nottingham 
CityCare Partnership and the Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust. The 
Hub receives the live information about the patient and identifies through 
which pathway the patient should be supported as part of a coordinated 
response. The staff support for the Hub includes practitioners, social workers 
and community care officers. Staff are also responsible for triaging and 
reviewing case notes. There is a runner to go to hospital departments to 
provide information and equipment to support the patient, and there are also 
clinicians working as a link between the Hub and wards as part of effective 
discharge; 
 

(h) the primary objective of the Hub is to ensure that people are discharged 
effectively from hospital either to their home or into community provision – 
where a full assessment of their healthcare needs can then be made. District 
nurses are involved in making referrals back into the healthcare system, where 
required;  
 

(i) the demand for ASC services has not reduced from the levels at the end of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. COVID-19 does not have a direct link with seasonal flu, 
but the numbers and assumptions around COVID-19 and seasonal flu are built 
into the Winter Plan;   
 

(j) the accreditation process for new homecare providers is being carried out by 
the Council’s Commissioning team, while the ASC team has a monitoring and 
assurance role in relation to the spot contracts under the BCF. The Council 
has also established more Contract Officer roles and a recruitment process is 
underway; 
 

(k) either the citizen or the provider can request a ‘change of agency’ for their 
support needs, for a number of reasons, but this can create a waiting list for 
transfers. The waiting list is currently very small, but it is monitored regularly 
so that action can be taken in the event of a new upward trend. Patient 
feedback is also being collected and taken into account as part of delivering 
effective service change;  
 

(a) currently, there is buoyancy within the homecare market, with sufficient staff 
and resources in place to support the current discharge and assessment 
needs. Turnover rates have decreased within the Council’s social worker 
provision, with a good balance being created between experience social 
workers and those starting their careers. The current workforce is well trained, 
with 50% being graduates with social care degrees. The Committee queried, 
however, what the current level of vacancies was within the workforce. 

 

Page 5



Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee - 12.10.23 

Resolved to: 
 

1. request that the Committee is informed if an upward trend begins to 
develop in ‘Change of Agency’ requests; 
 

2. request the detail of the current vacancy rate of social workers within 
Nottingham City Council; 
 

3. request a monitoring update in relation to service user feedback on their 
outcomes following the service changes in the transfer of care. 

 
15  Adult Social Care Transformation Programme 

 
Councillor Linda Woodings, Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care and Health, and 
Oliver Bolam, Head of Mental Health, presented a report on two projects: the 
Assessment and Support Planning project and the Mental Health Reablement 
project, which are both being run as part of the Adult Social Care (ASC) 
Transformation Programme. The following information was highlighted: 
 

(a) the Council has set up and is currently testing an online ASC Portal, which will 

act as a quick access point for social care advice and support. The various 

functions include how to link up with the wider social care community within 

Nottingham, safeguarding, care and support needs, support and needs as a 

carer, and financial advice and support;  

 

(b) the online practitioner-facing forms developed as part of the Portal include a 
Contact and Action Tool, a Strength and Needs Assessment and a Outcome 
Focused Care and Support Plan, supported by a ‘formulate’ tool to provide an 
Indicative Personal Budget for the Care and Support Plan that is sensitive to 
the particular care needs. This intended to make the whole support process 
much more efficient;  
 

(c) the Portal has been tested internally by colleagues and testing will be carried 
out with service users, including parents and carers. So far, the feedback has 
been very positive and the testing has shown extremely high levels of 
accuracy (95%);  
 

(d) many other local authorities already possess an online ASC Portal, with the 
Council’s proposed to launch in March 2024; 

 
(e) the Mental Health Reablement project aims to develop and implement a 

service that maximises independence, provides more short-term mental health 
interventions and reduces the need for longer-term care, following hospital 
discharge. The primary objectives are:  
 

 that more citizens with mental health support needs are engaged with 
and supported, with outcome-focussed interventions that deliver 
financial efficiencies;  

 that more citizens with mental health support needs have strength-
based conversations that place the person at the centre of the service, 
increasing choice, control and independence;  

Page 6



Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee - 12.10.23 

 and that 375 citizens per year with mental health needs are engaged 
with and supported by the Council;  

 
(f) often, an important part of mental health reablement is addressing social 

isolation, so there is a particular focus in this area. The service is intended to 
be preventative, with support being offered during an up to 12-week period, in 
advance of any assessment of long-term need being carried out under the 
Care Act. It is intended that the reablement needs of the majority of people will 
be met within the 12-week period, with only 30% then requiring a Care Act 
assessment;  
 

(g) an important measure of the success of the Mental Health Reablement project 
will be in reducing the length of time for the citizen to ask for support to until 
they receive the support. The electronic system will not be the sole means of 
accessing the reablement services for all users, but it should ensure a timely 
response for most people requiring help. It is intended that, after being 
established through the Public Health Grant, the service will sustain itself due 
to savings arising from effective prevention. 

 
During the discussion and in response to questions from the Committee, the following 
points were made: 
 

(h) the mental health reablement service will directly signpost to appropriate 
therapeutic treatment in primary and secondary care settings, where this is 
required. Therapeutic support cannot be commissioned through the service 
itself, which is intended to be a quick assess point for support for people in 
challenging circumstances – while mental health crisis services are provided 
through other routes. Staff are trained to have an understanding of potential 
therapeutic need so that they can provide the signposting to right services. 
The service is intended to be as accessible as possible, taking into account 
potential digital exclusion and neurodiverse needs, and will collect detailed 
feedback from individual service users on the outcomes they experienced;  
 

(i) how the costs of social care are to be met by the individual is set at a national 
level and cannot be altered locally, but there is a small discretionary element if 
someone is under severe economic hardship; 

 
(j) the ASC Hub has an expected launch date of March 2024. In the meantime, 

ASC services continue to be accessed through the Nottingham Health and 
Care Point. However, the current telephone wait times to access the Care 
Point from contact to support provided can be over one hour. The ASC team is 
working with Customer Services to address this, with an urgent aim to appoint 
more call handlers so that the calls can be taken in a more timely manner. The 
current ‘plan of action’ to improve the Care Point waiting times will be shared 
with the Committee; 

 
(k) two-thirds of referrals to the Mental Health Reablement Service are likely to 

come via the Health and Care Point, with others being referred by the two 
Mental Health teams working with secondary healthcare services;   
 

Page 7



Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee - 12.10.23 

(l) if a person is referred to the Mental Health Reablement service, it should be 
possible to meet the needs of 70% of people within a twelve-week period. If a 
service user has longer-term needs, this will be established through an 
assessment under the Care Act. However, a service user will not be required 
to wait twelve weeks for a Care Act assessment if it is clear that they have 
long-term mental health needs that should be addressed sooner;  
 

(m)for the ASC Hub and the Mental Health Reablement projects, a number of 
different groups will be approached for the purposes of initial testing, to include 
a representative range of backgrounds, ages and service needs. Feedback 
from this is very important for driving service design, such as ensuring that the 
number of clicks it takes to get to the service a citizen requires is as low as 
possible. 

 
Resolved to: 
 

1. to request that, following March 2024, a monitoring update is provided to 
the Committee to give assurance that the proposed 12-week mental 
health reablement process does not result in unnecessary delays for 
people with clear, long-term needs from receiving an appropriate Care 
Act Assessment in a timely way; 
 

2. request details of the intended plan of action to reduce the current 
waiting times to reach the Nottingham Health and Care Point in the 
meantime, including the call handling performance data over the last two 
years. 

 
16  'Tomorrow’s NUH' Programme 

 
Alex Ball and Mark Wightman, Director of Communications and Engagement and 
Director of Strategy and Reconfiguration at the NHS Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board (ICB), and Phil Britt, Programme Director for 
Tomorrow’s NUH at the Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust (NUH), 
presented the report on the next stages of the ‘Tomorrow’s NUH’ programme and a 
potential public consultation on the proposals. The following information was 
highlighted:  
 

(a) in 2019, the Government proposed a programme to build 40 new hospitals by 
2030. Nottingham was chosen as a location for significant capital investment, 
resulting in the opportunity for the Tomorrow’s NUH programme, which has 
been developed in partnership between the ICB and NUH over the last three 
years. The ICB is producing a business case for the proposed service 
reconfiguration in consultation with stakeholders and the public. The proposals 
involve: 
 

 creating a new hospital for women, children and families at the Queen’s 
Medical Centre (QMC);  

 increasing the range of emergency services provided at the QMC; 

 consolidating all planned care at the City Hospital to create an Elective 
Care Centre of Excellence;  

Page 8



Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee - 12.10.23 

 develop cancer services across both hospitals (cancer operations to 
take place at the City Hospital, followed by recovery at the QMC);  

 changing the way outpatient services work across all sites and in the 
community;  

 
(b) nationally, hospitals that have made arrangements like the ones proposed 

have addressed patient backlogs caused by the COVID-19 pandemic more 
effectively;  

 
(c) however, other hospitals in the country have been identified as at risk of 

structural failure due to the presence of Reinforced Autoclaved Aerated 
Concrete (RAAC) in their buildings, which degrades after twenty to thirty 
years. This has resulted in the Government and NHS England bringing 
forward the investment into the hospitals affected by RAAC to complete the 
necessary work by 2030. As a result, the remaining hospital projects, including 
Tomorrow’s NUH, will now not be completed until after 2030 – but must still 
submit their final plans and be ready to build by 2028;  
 

(d) the University of Nottingham is considering vacating its Medical School 
building on the QMC site and creating a new facility on its own campus. The 
potential future availability of the Medical School Building has been considered 
to explore whether this opens up new opportunities to better configure clinical 
services within the main QMC block. However, based on previous work 
undertaken, modelling assumptions and initial insights, NUH has confirmed 
that it does not believe this would present an affordable alternative to achieve 
a full split of elective and emergency care across the hospital sites; 

 
(e) two rounds of engagement with the public took place in December 2020 and 

March/April 2022. The data gathered from the consultations has helped 
influence and adjust the initial business case. After the first consultation, 78% 
responses were strongly or somewhat supportive. A third round of consultation 
took place in February and March 2023 to strengthen understanding and 
address gaps in the knowledge in the following areas:  
 

 services at Ropewalk House (Audiology, Diabetic Eye Screening, 
Breast Screening and Cochlear Implants); 

 the experiences of residents of Basford, Bestwood or Sherwood, who 
use services at City Hospital; 

 the proposed facility for women's, children and family services (e.g. 
maternity, neonatal and children's services, including children's 
emergency care and some gynaecology); 

 
(f) the proposed full public consultation will be a tailored approach for obtaining 

as much opinion from a diverse number of groups as possible. The 
documentation will be made available in an easy-to-read format and translated 
into the top 5 spoken languages in Nottingham. The demographic data will be 
closely monitored and the activities will be adapted where appropriate. The 
consultation will be online, face-to-face and involve telephone conservations. 
Meetings will be arranged in accessible venues with interpreters, translators 
and hearing loops where required. Engagement activities will also cover areas 

Page 9



Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee - 12.10.23 

of Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire where there are people who use the 
hospitals in Nottingham. 

 
During the discussion and in response to questions from the Committee, the following 
points were made: 

 

(g) an experienced team is in place to carry out a significant public consultation 
effectively, which is intended to be completed by May 2024. 3,850 people 
have been surveyed so far as part of the initial engagement, who were broadly 
reflective of the UK population. The Tomorrow’s NUH consultation will be 
seeking to engage with people where they are, including in the most deprived 
areas of the city that can be difficult to reach, but use the hospital services the 
most. The consultation will be hosted in areas where people congregate such 
as the supermarket, schools, health care facilities and marketplaces. Input 
from City Councillors and other community leaders would be very helpful in 
identifying the places where the consultation could be carried out effectively;  
 

(h) the Committee considered that it would be vital for all people who do not 
speak English as a first language to engaged with effectively – in addition to 
people who do speak English as a first language, but who may have a low 
level of literacy;  
 

(i) the current University of Nottingham Medical school covers approximately 
30,000 square metres. The two new buildings proposed on the QMC campus 
as part of the Tomorrow’s NUH project will cover around 45,000 square 
metres. The Committee considered that, ultimately, Tomorrow’s NUH project 
and consultation should take full advantage of ‘green’ opportunities, including 
the re-use of existing buildings and effective transport planning;  
 

(j) transport planning is key for the moving of staff, patients and visitors to and 
from the hospitals and other services. A travel advisory group works within the 
Tomorrow’s NUH programme to address the needs of access for particular 
populations, such as through the Medilink bus service, and how the NUH can 
work towards the national net zero target. Particular concerns around access 
to a service involve pedestrians trying to access Ropewalk House, which is on 
a steep hill. The Committee advised that the Tomorrow’s NUH project team 
should engage closely with the Council’s Transport Planning team to ensure 
that an effective approach is implemented;  
 

(k) staff and their unions have been consulted throughout the three-year process 
and receive regular updates. The Committee advised that the unions should 
be fully involved throughout the process. Members also considered that it 
would also be important to engage with the residents who lived closed to the 
hospitals. 

 
Resolved to: 
 

 approve the principle of proceeding to Public Consultation on the 
Tomorrow’s NUH project;  
 

Page 10



Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee - 12.10.23 

 request that the details of the proposed consultation plan, including who 
will be engaged with and how, are brough to a future meeting of the 
Committee, before the consultation takes place;  
 

 request that, once the consultation is underway, a monitoring update is 
provided to the Committee on how engagement with hard to reach 
communities is progressing. 

 
17  Work Programme 

 
Jane Garrard, Senior Governance Officer, noted that items for the November meeting 
include the Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2022/23 and 
Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust – Maternity Services report.  
 
An update from Tomorrow’s NUH will be presented at the December meeting. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee 
16 November 2023 

 
 

Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2022/23 
 
Report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To receive the Annual Report of the Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults 

Board (SAB) for 2022/23 regarding its work to ensure the safeguarding of adults 
in Nottingham, scrutinise its activity and future priorities, and identify any issues 
or evidence arising that are relevant to the Committee’s work programme. 

 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked: 
 

a) to agree any comments or recommendations that it wishes to make to the 
SAB in response to its 2022/23 Annual Report; and 

 
b) to identify any issues or evidence arising that are relevant to the 

Committee’s work programme (and how to take these forward). 
 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 There is a statutory requirement for the Council to establish a SAB. The main 

objective of the SAB is to assure itself that the local safeguarding arrangements 
and partners act to help and protect adults in Nottingham who: 

 have needs for care and support (whether the local authority is meeting any of 
those needs or not); 

 are experiencing or are at risk of harm, abuse or neglect; or 

 as a result of those with care and support needs, are unable to protect 
themselves from either the risk of, or the experience of, abuse or neglect. 

 
3.2 The SAB has three core duties: 

 to publish a Strategic Plan for each financial year to set how it will meet its 
primary objective and what the members will do to achieve this; 

 to publish an annual report detailing what the SAB has done during the year to 
achieve its primary objective and implement its Strategic Plan, and what each 
member has done to implement the strategy – as well as detailing the findings 
of any Safeguarding Adults Reviews and subsequent action; and 

 to conduct any Safeguarding Adults Reviews in accordance with Section 44 of 
the Care Act. 

 
3.3 Each year, the Committee reviews the SAB’s annual report as a means of 

holding it to account, and also to identify any issues or evidence that may be 
relevant to its own work programme. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



 
3.4 The Independent Chair of the Nottingham City SAB will be attending the 

meeting to present the Annual Report for 2022/23, which is attached along with 
an associated executive summary.  

 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report April 2022 – March 

2023 and Executive Summary 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those disclosing 

exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report April 2022 – March 

2023 and Summary 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Adrian Mann, Scrutiny and Audit Support Officer 
 adrian.mann@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 

Page 14

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-for-residents/health-and-social-care/adult-social-care/adult-safeguarding/about-nottingham-city-safeguarding-adults-board/
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-for-residents/health-and-social-care/adult-social-care/adult-safeguarding/about-nottingham-city-safeguarding-adults-board/
mailto:adrian.mann@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


Annual report                   

2022/23 summary  

Strategic Priorities—A snapshot of 

what we achieved in 2022/23 

Who are we? 
Three statutory partners as set out in the Care Act (2014):  

Nottingham City Council Adult Social Care  

Nottinghamshire Police 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICB  

The wider partnership members:  

Nottingham City Council Community Protection 

National Probation Service, Nottinghamshire  

Department for Work and Pensions  

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service  

East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS)  

Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust  

Nottingham CityCare Partnership  

Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust  

Nottingham Community and Voluntary Service  

HMP Nottingham  

Nottinghamshire Healthwatch  

Nottingham City Homes 

Independent Chair – Lesley Hutchinson 2022/23 

How we work 

Alongside the Board and Business Management Group there are three 

Safeguarding Adult Board sub-groups which include: 

• The Quality Assurance subgroup responsible for evaluating the quality 

of safeguarding adult interventions, partner agencies’ performance and 

training being undertaken. 

• The Safeguarding Adults Review subgroup responsible for               

commissioning SARs to ensure that agencies learn lessons and            

Improve  practice 

• The Training, Learning and Improvement subgroup responsible for 

disseminating safeguarding messages, training opportunities and  

learning identified in SARs 

Prevention 

• Started to review and update the Board's public and professional facing Comms and 

Media to increase awareness and understanding of adult safeguarding. 

•  Tackling domestic abuse - through joint working with Safeguarding Children Partner-

ship and the Crime and Drug Partnership we have raised issues with the Domestic 

Abuse Commissioners Office.  

• Sought partner assurance that work remains ongoing regarding 'closed cultures'. 

• Supported partner efforts to address the issue of reduced footfall in care home and 

home care settings and the consequent reduction in adult safeguarding referrals.  

• Ensured learning from case reviews is embedded across the partnership to help      

improve practice. 

Assurance 

• Received annual assurance from all partners via completion of the Performance      

Assurance Tool (PAT) that their adult safeguarding arrangements remain effective. 

• Started to develop a new data Dashboard to improve the range and quality of       

safeguarding data available to the Board to provide assurance and inform partnership 

decision making.  

• Started to develop a new Quality Assurance Framework which will set out the annual 

Quality Assurance activity of the Board including receipt of single agency reports, a 

refined and expanded data set and multi-agency audits. 

• Engaged with the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP), nationally and locally, as 

it continues to improve the effectiveness of its adult safeguarding arrangements. 

• Commenced work seeking assurance of partners adult safeguarding arrangements 

when working with people experiencing 'multiple exclusion homelessness'. 

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) 

• Agreed with partners to receive regular 'practice example' case studies at the Board 

as an effective way of maintaining partner focus on overarching priorities. 

• Sought assurance that the commissioned advocacy agency (POhWER) continues to 

have regard to adult safeguarding, and that partner agencies utilise advocacy services 

effectively. 

• Sought assurance regarding the quality of 'frontline' Making Safeguarding Personal 

(MSP) practice by undertaking a multiagency staff  questionnaire and developing an 

action plan. 

What did our partners 

say?......... 

“Achieving best 
outcomes through 

the revision of 
multi-Agency     

policies” 

“Really helpful to 
have shared     

visions and goals” 

“Quality Assurance      
review of the Provider 

Investigation Procedure 
highlighting strong Multi

-Agency work with      
partners” 

“Clear     
Strategic 

plan” 

“The 7-minute briefings. 
These learning tools ensure 
consistent messages across 
the partnership in an easily 
accessible format for busy 

staff” 

“Sharing of SAB 
research, learning 

and themes via 
reflective forums” 

Page 15



 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) 

In June 2022, Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board approved 

two Safeguarding Adult Reviews which will both be published on the 

Safeguarding Adults Board webpage. The first, Billy, was a single man 

in his fifties of Black African Caribbean heritage, who lived alone in 

his flat and died from starvation in 2018. At the time of his death,  

Billy was at point of eviction, had no heating or hot water, and no  

income for basic essentials of food and utilities. Billy struggled for 

many years with his mental health, but was also very independent, 

kept to himself and declined help. Tragically, interventions by     

agencies added to his problems by cutting off vital services.  

The second, Valentina, was a white British woman with a diagnosis 

of Emotionally Unstable Personality Disorder and physical health 

needs due to her diabetes. Valentina died in 2019, having taken a              

deliberate overdose of her insulin following extreme anxiety and   

distress due to sustained domestic abuse from her ex-partner and 

problems attempting to claim Personal Independence Payment (PIP). 

Both reviews contained recommendations of national interest, which 

were escalated through the National Safeguarding Adults Board 

Chairs network.   

In March 2023, an independent reviewer was appointed for a non

-mandatory SAR with themes of hoarding and non-engagement 

with services. An action plan for a further mandatory SAR which 

was completed in the previous year has now been completed.  

“As Independent Chair, I am proud to present the report to you and share with you the work partners have undertaken to safeguard 

adults across the City. Agencies have reported throughout the year that they have seen an increase in the complexity of needs for peo-

ple accessing services. When coupled with continued recruitment and retention issues, Partners are concerned about lack of service 

and staffing capacity to meet Nottingham’s citizen’s needs. Despite the increased pressures, Partners continue to prioritise safeguard-

ing work. This assurance is critical for the Board, and I would like to take the opportunity to say thank you to all the practitioners and 

managers who are committed to keep people in Nottingham safe.”  

Lesley Hutchinson, Independent Chair (May 2023) 

 

Our focus for 2023/2024……… 

• To review the current Partner Assurance Tool and include new 

questions on Transitional Safeguarding and People in Positions of 

Trust (PiPoT).  

• Trialling a new data dashboard to include health providers, Fire & 

Rescue, Police and Communities.  

• To work with the Practice Development Unit (PDU) to understand 

the local offer and identify areas for collaboration.  

• To receive and analyse returned SAR Impact Tools and ensure that 

the learning from SARs is shared internally within single agencies, 

and embedded into practice within policies,  procedures, training 

and staff culture.  

• Develop a Comms Strategy for NCSAB to provide structure and    

detail to the Board's public and professionals awareness raising.  

• To review and expand existing systemwide tools that improve staff 

practice and legal literacy when working with people with 'serious 

and multiple disadvantage' and those who self-neglect / hoard. 

• To review, update and repeat the Making Safeguarding Personal 

Questionnaire to build on the intelligence gathered in 2022/2023, 

and to carry forward the recommendations already in place.  

• An audit schedule will be developed in line with the new  Quality 

Assurance Framework.  

You can access the full report at:  

www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-for-residents/health-and-social-care/adult-

social-care/ adult-safeguarding/about-nottingham-city-safeguarding-adults-board  

Nottingham is the 11th most deprived district in the country   

3,065 safeguarding adults 

concerns were received,   

108 more than in 2021/22 

1,456 s.42 enquiries were 
undertaken 152 fewer 
than in 2021/22 

Safeguarding stats for 2022/2023 

742 enquiries 

were about 

neglect                    

                  

341 were 

about           

financial  

abuse  

246 were 

about      

physical   

abuse  

184 were 

about        

psychological 

abuse  

100% of people who lacked mental capacity were supported     

In 84% of cases, risk was either 

reduced, removed or no risk was 

identified.  Page 16

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/etbdjxmz/billy-final-sar-for-publication-11th-may-2023.pdf
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/xrpcivn3/sar-valentina-final-for-publication-may-2023.pdf
https://www.pdunottingham.org/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report 
April 2022 – March 2023 

Page 17



 

 
 

 2 

Contents 

Our vision……………………………………………………………………………………………3 

Message from the Chair…………………………………………………………………………...4 

Case study…………………………………………………………………………………………..5 

Core duties of Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board…………………………………..6 

Our strategic priorities and what we achieved…………………………………………………..7 

Case study…………………………………………………………………………………………10 

About Nottingham City……………………………………………………………………………11 

Safeguarding adults activity……………………………………………………………………..12 

Who sits on the Board and how does it work?...................................................................18 

Quality Assurance………………………………………………………………………………..20 

Safeguarding adults reviews…………………………………………………………………....21 

Training, Learning and Improvement…………………………………………………………..23 

What difference have we made?........................................................................................24 

Partner contributions……………………………………………………………………………..25 

What next for 2022/23?......................................................................................................44 

Reporting abuse………………………………………………………………………………….45 

Glossary of acronyms……………………………………………………………………………46 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For explanation of acronyms used throughout this document please see the glossary of 
terms on page 40. 

Page 18



 

 
 

 3 

 

 

 

  

Page 19



 

 
 

 4 

Message from the Chair 

Welcome to Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board’s Annual Report for 2022/2023. 
As Independent Chair, I am proud to present the report to you and share with you the work 
Partners have undertaken to safeguard adults across the City. I hope that as you read 
through the report you will see the commitment from Partners.  

The report describes what we have achieved through the year and our priorities for 
2023/2024. The priorities have been developed following a successful Board Development 
Day held in January 2023 where Partners shared their understanding of local issues which 
we have collectively agreed to focus on.  

The report also shares with you details of two safeguarding adults reviews and provides 
assurance that actions are being taken to learn from these sad incidents. I had hoped that 
these reports would be published in year however am confident they will be published in 
June 2023. A further non -statutory review has been accepted during the period and we 
hope that it will be concluded in the autumn 2023. 

Agencies have reported throughout the year that they have seen an increase in the 
complexity of needs for people accessing services; this adds additional pressure on 
Partners. When coupled with continued recruitment and retention issues, Partners are 
concerned about lack of service and staffing capacity to meet Nottingham’s citizen’s 
needs. Despite the increased pressures, Partners continue to prioritise safeguarding work. 
This assurance is critical for the Board, however there is a concern that some areas of 
service (for example supporting people at risk of domestic abuse) are struggling to 
maintain services at the level they would hope. Consequently, workforce pressures have 
been included on the Boards Risk Register and continues to be monitored. 

As always the Board and its subgoups have seen a number of changes in membership. 
The Board is extremely grateful for all the hard work those members have contributed and 
a special acknowledgement is given to Ross Leather, Board Business Manager for 
ensuring the Board delivered and to Julie Gardner from Nottingham Health Care Trust for 
her commitment and constructive challenges over the years to the Board. 

Finally I would like to take the opportunity to say thank you to all the practitioners and 
managers who are committed to keep people in Nottingham safe. 

 

 

Lesley Hutchinson 

Nottingham City Independent Chair 

 

 

 

Page 20



 

 
 

 5 

 

 

  

Case study 

Concern  

A referral for ‘John’ was received from the Street Homelessness team. John is a young 
man diagnosed with ADHD and ASD who had fled his family home in Nottingham and 
who had been rough sleeping for several weeks. John had fled the family home after a 
long history of physical abuse and financial abuse from both his parents. 

 

Making Safeguarding Personal 

The Safeguarding Social Worker engaged with John and supported him to express how 
he wanted his life to be safer, and different. John said he: 

• Would like support to find somewhere permanent to live in a safe area away from 
his parents’ home. 

• Would like an income that was paid directly to him. 

• Wanted his ID to be retrieved from his parents address so that he could make a 
claim for benefit payments. 

 

How we supported John to achieve his desired outcomes 

• The Social Worker established a trusting relationship with John, including 
signposting him to young people’s talking/counselling services  

• Worked closely with the DWP to explore mental capacity, displace 
Appointeeship, and to arrange a universal credit claim. 

• Worked closely with the Homeless prevention worker and police to ensure John 
gained access to his ID documents from the family home. 

• Supported his Housing application. 

• Reported allegations of abuse into the City MASH where a police investigation 
remains ongoing. 

 

Outcome 

John is now settled into his shared accommodation in a young people’s project. He 
likes his support worker and has 24 hours support available should he need to contact 
someone. John lives in shared accommodation with tenants he says he gets on well 
with. John says he feels safe.  

John is now in receipt of the appropriate benefits and feels he is able to comfortably 
afford the things he needs. John does not feel at risk from his family anymore and is 
making plans for the future including wanting to learn to drive. 

 

Page 21



 

 
 

 6 

Core duties of Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults 
Board 

Each local authority must set up a Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB).  

The main objective of a SAB is to assure itself that local safeguarding arrangements and 
partners act to help and protect adults in its area who meet the criteria set out in the Care 
Act (2014).  

The SAB has a strategic role that is greater than the sum of the operational duties of its 
core partners. It oversees and leads adult safeguarding across its locality and is interested 
in a range of matters that contribute to the prevention of abuse and neglect.  

 

A SAB has three core duties: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Strategic Plan

• It must publish a strategic plan for each financial year that sets out how it 
will meet its main objective and what the members will do to achieve this

Annual Report

• It must publish an annual report which details what the SAB has done during 
the year to achieve its main objective and implement its strategic plan, and 
what each member has done to implement the strategy, as well as the 
findings of any safeguarding adults reviews (SARs) and subsequent action.

Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs)

• It must conduct any SARs in accordance with Section 44 of the Care Act

Page 22



 

 
 

 7 

Our strategic priorities and what we achieved 

The Board’s Strategic Plan for 2022-2025 has three key strategic priorities, with three 
operational priorities sitting underneath for 2022-2023. The Board have worked throughout 
the year to make good progress across these operational priorities.  

 

 

Strategic priority 1: Prevention 

 

What we achieved: 

• Started to review and update the Board's public and professional facing 
Communications and Media. The aim is that public and professionals alike will have 
an increased awareness and understanding of adult safeguarding, the forms it can 
take and what to do if they encounter it. This work is being led by the Training, 
Learning and Improvement (TLI) subgroup.  

• Continued the Board's Strategy of amplifying local, regional and national 
safeguarding adult messages through the TLI Subgroup. By amplifying local, 
regional and national messages, the Board increases awareness and 
understanding of adult safeguarding issues and how to address them. 

 

✓ Increase public and professional awareness of adult safeguarding 
 

✓ Reduce abuse of adults in specific risk areas 
 

✓ Ensure learning from case reviews is embedded across the 
partnership to improve practice 

 
Priorities include ensuring that lessons from Safeguarding Adult Reviews improve staff 
practice and that our adult safeguarding data reflects the latest local demographic 
information contained in the national census 
 

Page 23

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/3375887/city-safeguarding-plan-on-a-page-230522.pdf


 

 
 

 8 

• Identified, shared and improved access to training, learning and improvement 
opportunities between all partnership agencies. By increasing access to training, 
the Board will be improving the quality of response to adult safeguarding by Board 
partners. 

• Gained assurance regarding local implementation of the IICSA (Independent Inquiry 
into Child Sexual Abuse) Anglican Church report recommendations, and that the 
Council IICSA plan remains on track. 

• Started work in partnership with the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (SCP) and 
Crime and Drugs Partnership (CDP) to tackle DVSA (Domestic Sexual Violence & 
Abuse) by raising issues relating to MARAC (Multi-agency Risk Assessment 
Conference) to the Domestic Abuse Commissioners Office.  

• Sought partner assurance that work remains ongoing regarding 'closed cultures' in 
light of the recent Care Quality Commission (CQC) reports and a recent Norfolk 
Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR). 

• Supported partner efforts to address the issue of reduced footfall in care home and 
home care settings and the consequent reduction in adult safeguarding referrals. 
This issue was largely Covid-19 related and so will not continue into 2023/2024.  

• Ensured learning from case reviews is embedded across the partnership to help 
improve practice. 

Strategic priority 2: Assurance 

 

What we achieved: 

• Received, in conjunction with Nottinghamshire SAB, annual assurance from all 
partners via completion of the Performance Assurance Tool (PAT) that their adult 
safeguarding arrangements remain effective 

• Started the process to improve the range and quality of safeguarding data available 
to the Board to provide assurance and inform partnership decision making. The new 
data dashboard will come into use in 2023/2024.  

• Started to develop a new Quality Assurance Framework which will set out the 
annual Quality Assurance activity of the Board including receipt of single agency 
reports, a refined and expanded data set and multi-agency audits.  

• Established routes to gain assurance that the Integrated Care Board (ICB) 
workstream plans consider adult safeguarding arrangements and that effective 
reporting and scrutiny mechanisms exist between the two bodies. 

• Held meetings with the Chairs of the CDP and SCP to effectively address 
'crosscutting' issues 

✓ Receive assurance from all partner agencies on the effectiveness of their 
safeguarding adult arrangements 
 

✓ Receive assurance that arrangements in specific areas promote effective 
adult safeguarding practice 

 

Priorities include making sure that care home and home care provision remains safe, 
and that effective transitional safeguarding arrangements are developed. 

Page 24



 

 
 

 9 

• Engaged with the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP), nationally and locally, 
as it continues to improve the effectiveness of its adult safeguarding arrangements 

• Commenced work seeking assurance of partners adult safeguarding arrangements 
when working with people experiencing 'multiple exclusion homelessness' 

• Maintained a central Risk Register to monitor current and emerging risks  

• Commenced work seeking assurance of partners adult safeguarding arrangements 
when working with people experiencing 'multiple exclusion homelessness.'  

• Undertook a brief audit on cases which were categorised as discriminatory abuse to 
provide assurance that agencies are identifying these cases effectively. 

Strategic priority 3: Engagement 

 

 

What we achieved: 

• Agreed with partners to receive regular 'practice example' case studies at the Board 
as an effective way of maintaining partner focus on overarching priorities. 

• Sought assurance that the commissioned advocacy agency (POhWER) continues 
to have regard to adult safeguarding, and that partner agencies utilise advocacy 
services effectively. 

• Sought assurance regarding the quality of 'frontline' Making Safeguarding Personal 
(MSP) practice by undertaking a multiagency staff questionnaire. 

 
 

 

✓ Ensure there is a strong commitment to ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ 
across the partnership and that the principles are embedded in local 
safeguarding practice 
 

Priorities include seeking assurance that frontline staff work in accordance with ‘Making 
Safeguarding Personal’ best practice and that referrals to local advocacy services 
continue to be promoted. 

Page 25



 

 
 

 10 

 
 
  

Case study 

Concern 

Bob was a middle-aged man living in rented accommodation. His relative was released 
from prison, with no fixed abode so moved into Bobs address. Bob disclosed to his GP 
that his relative was spending his benefit and was not contributing to any bills, so he 
was getting into debt. His relative was also encouraging Bob to buy and take illicit 
substances and inviting other homeless people to stay at his address. Bob felt unable to 
say no. Bob also felt his upstairs flat was not meeting his needs, as his mobility was 
deteriorating. 

 

Making Safeguarding Personal 

The Safeguarding Social Worker engaged with Bob which took some time as he was 
afraid his relative would punish him for disclosing his concerns. Bob wanted to: 

• Move out of his property 

• Be debt free 

• Stop using substances. 

 

How we supported John to achieve his desired outcomes 

• The Social Worker had safety discussions with Bob, so he knew what to do if he 
felt threatened in his property 

• Maximised Bobs benefit entitlement and ensured the DWP held back payment 
until safeguarding measures were in place  

• Worked collaboratively with the Housing Provider to explore options around the 
removal of the relative, so that this was not deemed by the relative as result of 
Bobs actions.  

• Explored new housing options  

• Liaised with Citizen’s Advice about debt support services  

• Provided information for a self-referral support around substance reduction 

• Provided information on social opportunities and a referral to Community 
Connectors to make safer connections and friendships 

 

Outcome 

The relative is now no longer at the address following action taken by the Housing 
Provider regarding breach of tenancy. Bob has the support in place to pursue a move 
and an improved financial income. Bob reports that he feels safer, healthier, and 
connected with some local social groups which have made him feel much less isolated. 

 

Page 26



 

 
 

 11 

About Nottingham City 

  

Page 27



 

 
 

 12 

Safeguarding Adults Activity  

Section 42 of the Care Act 2014 requires local authorities to make enquiries, or cause 
others to do so, if they believe an adult is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect. 
An enquiry should establish whether any action needs to be taken to prevent or stop 
abuse or neglect and if so, by whom. These enquiries are commonly referred to as 
‘Section 42 enquiries’. 

The charts that follow are drawn from local authority safeguarding data and show key 
safeguarding measures. 

NHS Digital Safeguarding Adults Collection data analysis for 2022/23 was published on 7th 
September 2023 and provides the benchmarking information for this report and 
safeguarding activity and outcomes.  

Chart 1: Adult safeguarding referrals and Section 42 enquiries by financial year 

 

There has been a national increase of 9% in the number of concerns raised, which is the 
same annual growth rate as last year. In comparison, Nottingham City’s data shows a 
3.65% increase in adult safeguarding referrals when compared to 2021/2022 which is less 
than the national average and goes against the decrease seen the year before. When 
considering S42 enquiries, there is a significant decrease of nearly 10% (9.45%) which 
goes against the national trend which shows an increase of 7%. This demonstrates a 
lower number of referrals leading to S42 in Nottingham City when compared to 2021/2022.  

The SAB will seek assurance to ensure all concerns are being raised where appropriate, 
that agencies are well informed about when to raise a concern and demonstrate good 
decision making.  

2,997 2,957
3,065

1,646 1,608
1,456

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Referrals to ASC S42 Enquiries

Page 28

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/safeguarding-adults/2022-23


 

 
 

 13 

Chart 2: Volume of Section 42 enquiries by referral source 

 

With the reduction in the number of S42 enquiries, the chart above is expected showing a 
reduction from all sectors with the exception of Social Care which saw an increase on 
2021/2022. In line with the 2021/2022 annual report, the Board will seek to undertake 
further analysis of the ‘other’ category within the new data dashboard.  

Chart 3: Volume of Section 42 enquiries by type of abuse 

 

Nationally, the most common type of risk in Section 42 enquiries that concluded in the year 
was Neglect and Acts of Omission, which accounted for 32% of risks. In Nottingham City, 
neglect and acts of omission are also the most common risk, followed by financial abuse, 
physical and then psychological risks. Some categories have seen a significant change 
since 2021/2022, with S42 enquiries for physical abuse reducing by around a third, and a 
reduction in domestic abuse, psychological abuse, sexual exploitation and self-neglect. 
There have been small increases in S42 enquiries for sexual abuse and institutional 
(organisational) abuse. Figures for financial abuse, neglect and acts of omission, 
discriminatory abuse and modern slavery have remained consistent since 2021/2022. 
Neglect and acts of omission account for nearly 40% of S42 enquiries. Discriminatory 
abuse remains consistently low, something which has been raised nationally as an area 
for Safeguarding Boards to focus on.  

367

295

147

461

254

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

NHS Other Police Private/Voluntary Social Care

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Physical Sexual
Psychol

ogical

Financi

al

Neglec

t

Discrimi

natory

Instituti

onal

Domest

ic

Abuse

Modern

Slavery

Sexual

Exploita

tion

Self

Neglec

t

2020/21 309 92 289 422 698 2 45 164 19 15 37

2021/22 370 70 237 340 749 5 71 154 24 17 55

2022/23 246 81 184 341 742 6 78 112 24 10 41

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Page 29



 

 
 

 14 

Chart 4: Volume of Section 42 enquiries by perpetrator relationship 

 

While most categories have seen a decrease when compared to 2021/2022, there has 
been a small increase in NHS staff as perpetrator. It is possible this corresponds with the 
implementation of the SAB PiPoT (People in Positions of Trust) Guidance in Q4, and is 
something the Board will be seeking to explore in 2023/2024. The Board is also keen to 
explore the category of ‘other’ to be assured about which types of perpetrator relationships 
are included.  

Chart 5: Volume of Section 42 enquiries by location of abuse 

 

Nationally, the most common location of the risk in Section 42 enquiries that concluded in 
the year was the person’s own home at 47%. Nottingham City has seen a decrease in 
‘own home’ and ‘other’ as the location of abuse when compared to 2021/2022. Care home 
and hospital remain consistent, with a small increase in Community service.  

442

143 134

508

1

418

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

363

55

876

1

362

74
3 5

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1,000

Care Home Hospital Own Home Community Service Other

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Page 30



 

 
 

 15 

Chart 6: Proportion of Section 42 enquiries where the adult lacked mental capacity 

 

The data above has remained consistent over the last few years. It is extremely positive to 
see that 100% of people who ‘lacked mental capacity’ are supported through the 
safeguarding procedure; this is exactly as would be expected. The advocacy provider will 
be invited to the Board in 2023/2024 to share data and will be included in the next annual 
report.  

Chart 7: Section 42 enquiries where the adult was asked about their desired outcome 

 

The percentages of individuals asked what outcomes they wanted, and of outcomes 
achieved, were both slightly higher than in 2021/22, something the Board were keen to 
see this year. The Board will continue to seek to understand the reason why 14% of 
individuals were not asked what outcome they wished to achieve. Making Safeguarding 
Personal sites within the Engagement strategic priority of the Board and this chart is part 
of the evidence the Board uses to assure itself that safeguarding support is personalised 
to people’s views and situations. 

59% 56% 59%

100% 100% 100%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

% Lacks Mental Capacity % Supported

86%

85%

86%

84% 84%

85%

82.00%

82.50%

83.00%

83.50%

84.00%

84.50%

85.00%

85.50%

86.00%

86.50%

87.00%

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

% Outcomes Asked % Outcomes Achieved

Page 31



 

 
 

 16 

Chart 8: Percentage of Section 42 enquiries by risk outcome 

 

Nationally, in 91% of concluded Section 42 enquiries where a risk was identified, the 
reported outcome was that the risk was reduced or removed. In Nottingham City, in 84% of 
cases the risk was reduced or removed, or no risk identified. However, if we included 
those cases which were inconclusive, the percentage would be 91% which is the same as 
2021/2022 and fits with the national average. The Board will seek to monitor this though 
the quarterly data received but accepted that risks might always remain for some 
situations. The Board will seek reassurance that monitoring arrangements are in place to 
ensure citizens are supported. 

As identified in the 2021/2022 Annual Report, further assurance has been sought on 
gender and ethnicity as set out below.  

 

Demographics 

Gender 

 

10%
6%

56%

11%

17%

8%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

No Risk Identified Risk Assessment

Inconclusive

Risk Reduced Risk Remains Risk Removed

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

984

661

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

Female Male

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Page 32



 

 
 

 17 

There has been a decrease year on year since 2020/2021 in the number of S42 enquiries 
for females, however the number of males has remained consistent in the last two years 
following a small increase in 2021/2022.  

Ethnicity 

 

The majority of S42 enquiries are for citizens that are white, with numbers for Asian/Asian 
British, Black/African/Caribbean/Black British, Mixed/Multiple, Other ethnic group and 
Undeclared/Unknown constantly lower over the last 3 years. The Board will be utilising 
census data in 2023/2024 to better understand how the S42 data reflects the local 
demographic of Nottingham City and identify where communities may need support to 
identify safeguarding concerns.  

Age 

 

The majority of S42 enquiries are for adults in the 80-89 age bracket, which is consistent 

with the figures for the previous two years. There has been a decrease in S42 enquiries for 

adults aged under 59 years old or over 70 years old, with a slight increase in only one age 

bracket, the 60-69 year olds.  

68 93 25 11
194

1,255

0
200
400
600
800

1,000
1,200
1,400

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

192

167
151

200

222

274
292

148

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

18-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 80-89 90+

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Page 33



 

 
 

 18 

Who sits on the Board and how does it work? 

Throughout 2022/23, the Board was chaired by Lesley Hutchinson. Ross Leather was the 
Board Manager until July 2022, and Anne-Marie Furnell commenced a secondment into 
the Board Manager role in September 2022.    

The Board met quarterly, with senior representatives attending from the following 
organisations: 

• Nottingham City Council Adult Social Care  

• Nottingham City Council Community Protection 

• Nottinghamshire Police 

• Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICB 

• National Probation Service, Nottinghamshire  

• Department for Work and Pensions 

• Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service 

• East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) 

• Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust  

• Nottingham CityCare Partnership  

• Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust 

• Nottingham Community and Voluntary Service 

• HMP Nottingham  

• Nottinghamshire Healthwatch  

• Nottingham City Homes  

 

Funding 

Nottingham City Council, Nottinghamshire Police, and Nottingham and Nottinghamshire 
ICB jointly fund the Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board. During 2022/23 these 
statutory partners continued to provide financial support in line with previously agreed 
contributions, and the budget was balanced at year end. 

 

Board Constitution  

How the Board works is set out in the published Constitution, which states that: 

✓ The aim of the Board is to ensure the effective co-ordination of services to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of adults in accordance with the Care Act 2014 
and the Statutory Guidance. 

 

✓ The NCSAB is a multi-agency Board that will coordinate the strategic development 
of Adult Safeguarding across Nottingham City and ensure the effectiveness of the 
work undertaken by partner agencies in the area.  
 

Page 34



 

 
 

 19 

✓ The Board aims to achieve its objectives through partner agencies supporting 
individuals in maintaining control over their lives and in making informed choices 
without coercion. 
 

✓ Whilst NCSAB has a role in coordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of work being 
done by local individuals and organisations in relation to safeguarding adults, it is not 
accountable for their operational work.  Each Board Partner has their own existing 
lines of accountability for safeguarding adults by their services. The Board does not 
have the power to direct other organisations but aims to assure itself that members 
and partners act to help and protect adults experiencing or at risk of abuse and/or 
neglect. 

 

The Board has three subgroups to support it: 

 

 

 

In addition to the three subgroups and the quarterly main Board, the independent Chair 
and representatives from the three funding agencies meet with the subgroup chairs and 
Board manager on a quarterly basis at the Business Management group to assist in the 
implementation of the Board’s annual action plan. 

 

 

 

The Quality Assurance subgroup

This is a proactive subgroup, responsible for supporting Nottingham City SAB in 
its assurance responsibilities by collecting evidence concerning the quality of 
local safeguarding interventions and the performance of agencies and their 
staff in carrying out their safeguarding responsibilities. This includes a focus on 

the principles of MSP.

The Safeguarding Adults Review subgroup

This is a reactive group, responding to any SAR referrals the Board receives and 
responsible for the operation of the SARs it commissions to ensure that 

agencies learn lessons and improve the way in which they work with adults at 
risk. The SAR subgroup seeks to develop SAR processes in line with the Care 

Act and local and national best practice.

The Training, Learning and Improvement subgroup

This is both a reactive and a proactive group, responsible for disseminating 
learning identified in SARs as well as acting as a conduit for identifying and 

passing on safeguarding messages and available training to partner 
workforces. Additionally, the subgroup can arrange training on behalf of the 

Board as well as reviewing the effectiveness of multi-agency learning and 
improvement activities.

Page 35



 

 
 

 20 

Quality Assurance (QA) Subgroup 

Achievements 

Partner Assurance Tool  

The subgroup received the annual Partner Assurance Tool (PAT) submission from partner 
agencies including Adult Social Care, Community Protection, Citycare, Nottinghamshire 
Fire & Rescue, Nottinghamshire Police, NCVS (Nottingham Community and Voluntary 
Service), Integrated Care Board (ICB), Nottingham University Hospital (NUH), Nottingham 
Healthcare Foundation Trust and Probation.  

PAT returns were all of good quality, and it was noted that lot of thought and detail went 
into the returns. Statutory organisations raised issues around Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (LPS) with a varied response as to how this will be managed when 
implemented. Some are putting plans in place and screening Deprivation Of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS), identifying the most vulnerable citizens. New appointments are being 
made to assist safeguarding leads within organisations.  

All agencies are dealing with issues with capacity within the workforce and are not always 
able to ensure staff are attending training. Staff would prefer more face-to-face training 
opportunities, however this is not always possible to facilitate. All agencies are 
experiencing high levels of vacancy rates, with ongoing recruitment and retention 
highlighted as an issue.  

Data 

The subgroup received quarterly data throughout the year, which provided oversight of 
statutory safeguarding activity in Adult Social Care.  

Audits 

The subgroup commenced audit work into Hoarding and Self-neglect. These topics have 
been central to recent SAR activity. 

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) Questionnaire  

The subgroup developed and distributed a staff questionnaire on Making Safeguarding 
Personal. This questionnaire aimed to establish a baseline of current confidence in staff 
application of the principles of MSP, so that recommendations could be made to support 
agencies to further embed MSP in practice. The responses will be analysed and collated 
and presented to the Board in 2023/2024.  

Impact 

The collected and analysed PAT returns have enabled the QA subgroup to provide the 
Board with assurance around individual agency safeguarding practice, as well as a multi-
agency strategic summary of issues the system is experiencing. This has directly informed 
the annual plan for 2023/2024.  

The quarterly data report enabled the subgroup to keep the main Board and the Business 
Management Group informed of themes, trends and areas of concerns.  

Through the MSP Questionnaire, the Board will have a clearer understanding of how fully 
the local system workforce understands MSP (alongside other issues) and is able to 
implement it in practice. 

 

Page 36



 

 
 

 21 

Barriers 

The current data set is limited, and the baselines are now out of date. The data is not 
currently looked at in terms of the local demographic and compared with census data.  

The MSP Questionnaire had a low return rate 

Priorities for 2023/2024 

• To review the current PAT to ensure that the new operational priorities for the Board 
are referenced within the questions. This will include new questions on Transitional 
Safeguarding and People in Positions of Trust (PiPoT).  

• The subgroup will be trialling a new Data Dashboard in 2023/2024. Although the 
current data set gives a good insight into the current safeguarding picture, it 
remains Adult Social Care only. The new dashboard will be expanded to include 
data from partner agencies such as Police, Community Protection, Fire & Rescue 
and Public Health, and will include topics such as drug-related deaths, 
homelessness deaths, and high-risk missing individuals, as well as expanding on 
the current social care data. By making decisions that draw upon a broad and good 
quality evidence base, outcomes for partner agencies and adults at risk will be 
improved. 

• New census data will underpin and inform the work of the Board, ensuring that its 
efforts are well placed and that a wider range of citizens than previously are 
successfully engaged with. 

• An audit schedule will be developed in line with the new Quality Assurance 
Framework.  

• To review, update and repeat the MSP Questionnaire to build on the intelligence 
gathered in 2022/2023.  

Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) Subgroup 

In June 2022, Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board approved two Safeguarding 
Adult Reviews. Both these reviews will be published on the Safeguarding Adults Board 
webpage as soon as possible. 

Reviews Completed  

Billy 

This Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) relates to a man ‘Billy’ who died from starvation in 
2018. Billy was a single man in his fifties of Black African Caribbean heritage, who lived 
alone in his flat as a tenant of Nottingham City Homes (NCH). 

Eight months before his death, the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) had 
stopped Billy’s Employment Support Allowance (ESA) as Billy had not responded to 
requirements to review his entitlement. When his ESA ended, this meant his Housing 
Benefit was not paid. Billy quickly fell into arrears. Billy did not respond to NCH attempts to 
resolve this. 

Billy had struggled for many years with his mental health as well as problems with an 
under-active thyroid, and following an acute episode of psychotic depression, he was 
sectioned under the Mental Health Act in 2015.  

Although agencies were aware of Billy’s depression, the SAR found that there were a 
series of missed opportunities to share information between services. Had information 

Page 37



 

 
 

 22 

been shared, this may have revealed the true nature of Billy’s mental distress and 
mobilised the care and treatment he needed. 

There has been significant learning for the agencies involved. Many improvements have 
been made since Billy died. There is evidence that these changes are making a difference 
to people in similar circumstances to Billy. However, the review has also identified further 
measures that will build on these improvements, strengthening the multi-agency response 
to people like Billy and reducing the risk of such a tragedy occurring again.  

Valentina 

This Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) explores the sad circumstances of Valentina’s 
death. Valentina was a white British woman with mental health needs; she had a diagnosis 
of Emotionally Unstable Personality Disorder and physical health needs due to her 
diabetes.  

Valentina died in 2019, having taken a deliberate overdose of her insulin. At the time of 
taking the overdose, Valentina felt overwhelmed by stressful life events. Valentina had 
been the victim of sustained domestic abuse from her ex-partner.  

In the months leading up to her death, Valentina had also been attempting to claim 
Personal Independence Payment (PIP) through the Department for Work and Pensions 
(DWP). Problems within this process caused her extreme anxiety and distress. This 
additional stress significantly increased her risk of self-harm and suicide. 

Valentina received a high level of support from her family and from agencies. The 
Nottingham City Safeguarding Adult Board (NCSAB) believed that there was learning 
about how agencies had worked together in relation to supporting Valentina and reducing 
the risks of harm arising from stressful events. The review also considers the changes that 
have been put in place since Valentina died and additional learning that can improve future 
multi-agency responses to people in similar circumstances to Valentina. 

Additional Review 

In March 2023, an independent reviewer was appointed for a non-mandatory SAR with 
themes of hoarding and non-engagement with services. Terms of Reference have been 
agreed, a practitioner workshop has been scheduled and it is anticipated that this review 
will be completed in late Autumn 2023.  

Ongoing Action Plans 

Actions plans for both the Billy and Valentina reviews have progressed steadily throughout 
the year and are monitored through the Boards subgroups. Both reviews contained 
recommendations of national interest, which were escalated through the National 
Safeguarding Adults Board Chairs network.  

An action plan for a further mandatory SAR which was completed in the previous year has 
now been completed. This review is currently unpublished as there is an ongoing criminal 
investigation.  

There are currently no outstanding actions from SAR’s which are not under review by the 
subgroups. 

Additional Documents  

A SAR Guide for Families and loved ones has been developed which contains information 
about what a SAR is, why they are carried out, what their purpose is and who families 
need to contact for further information. This will be published on the Safeguarding Adults 
Board webpages.  

Page 38



 

 
 

 23 

To better understand the impact of SARs and to ascertain how embedded the learning is, 
a SAR Impact Tool has been developed which will be sent to individual agencies 6 months 
after publication and/or completion of the action plan. The completed tool will be submitted 
to the Training, Learning and Improvement subgroup for analysis, and any concerns or 
areas of good practice will be escalated to the Board.  

The Training, Learning and Improvement (TLI) 
Subgroup 

Achievements 

• Promoted 'action on world elder abuse day’ using a comms/media pack from 
National Charity Hourglass 

• Updated our suite of ‘7-minute briefings’. These short briefings with key information 
for professionals in an easily digestible format have been popular with agencies, 
and allow them to share concise messages and learning with the workforce.  

• Developed a SAR Impact Tool to facilitate evaluation of learning from SARs 

• Developed a SAR Guide for Families  

• Developed a ‘What is abuse and how to get help’ leaflet for members of the public  

• Training opportunities and learning materials were shared via 'TLI distribution list' 

Impact 

• Both the public and professionals have a better understanding of adult safeguarding 
and when and how to report abuse and neglect. This will reduce inappropriate 
referrals and ensure professionals utilise alternative referral pathways. 

• We will be able to better evidence that learning from SARs is embedded  

Barriers 

• There is a lack of multi-agency training for professionals available  

Priorities for 2023/2024 

• Identify minimum training standards that all agencies should adhere to. 

• To work with the Practice Development Unit (PDU) to understand the local offer and 
identify areas for collaboration.  

• To receive and analyse returned SAR Impact Tools and ensure that the learning 
from SARs is shared internally within single agencies, and embedded into practice 
within policies, procedures, training and staff culture.   

• To carry forward training related recommendations from the MSP Questionnaire 
carried out by the Quality Assurance subgroup.  

• Develop a Comms Strategy for NCSAB to provide structure and detail to the 
Board's public and professionals awareness raising. 

• To review and expand existing systemwide tools that improve staff practice and 
legal literacy when working with people with 'serious and multiple disadvantage' and 
those who self-neglect / hoard. 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

 
 

 24 

What difference have we made? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“The 7-minute briefings. 
These learning tools ensure 

consistent messages 
across the partnership in an 
easily accessible format for 

busy staff” 

“The TLI subgroup 
helped identify 

opportunities for 
collaboration and 

partnership 
working” 

“I have been a member of the 
NCSAB for the past eighteen 

months. In this time joint working 
between adult safeguarding and 

community safety has greatly 
improved and there has been a 

fantastic amount of collaboration. 
It has been a great experience 
which has clearly demonstrated 

the positive impact of partnership 
working” 

“Increased 
understanding 

of partner 
agency roles 

and 
responsibilities” 

“Achieving best 
outcomes 

through the 
revision of multi-
Agency policies” 

“Greater sharing of 
knowledge through 

the use of 7-
Minute Briefings 

and safeguarding 
toolkits” 

“Sharing of SAB 
research, 

learning and 
themes via 

reflective forums” 

“Staff Questionnaire 
on knowledge and 
skills in Making 
Safeguarding 
Personal which fed 
into training analysis 
and annual training 
plan” 

“Quality Assurance 
review of the Provider 

Investigation Procedure 
highlighting strong Multi-

Agency work with 
partners” 

“Clear 
Strategic 

plan” 

“Good to be 
back to face 
to face and 
networking” 

“Really helpful 
to have shared 

visions and 
goals” 

Page 40



 

 
 

 25 

Partner contributions 

Our partner agencies promoted adult safeguarding within their own organisations in 
numerous ways throughout 2021/22. These are their reports. 

Nottingham City Adult Social Care 

Care homes registered with the Care Quality Commission remain consistently the second 
highest location of abuse in Nottingham. Whilst Adult Social Care has robust structures 
and processes in place to investigate and coordinate Safeguarding investigations in care 
homes, recent urgent care home closures in Nottingham due to building compliance, low 
quality care delivery and contractual requirements have demonstrated that the Council and 
partners should review their monitoring and information sharing arrangements to develop 
and improve quality assurance of this sector.  

While the number of Safeguarding Enquires undertaken by Adult Social Care remain 
relatively stable, the City Safeguarding Team is reporting an increase in the number of 
citizens referred with very complex needs living with high levels of risk due to their 
vulnerable situations such as homelessness, substance misuse or domestic abuse.  

Adult Social care already have a longstanding Adult Safeguarding Quality Assurance 
team, with specialist Senior Practitioners who coordinate and oversee Safeguarding 
Investigations in Provider settings. The team also leads a monthly multi agency Quality 
Information Sharing meeting where agencies responsible for the monitoring and inspection 
of regulated care provision can share information and concerns, and decide collectively 
upon appropriate action. This promotes an Early Intervention approach.  

In terms of resource, it is proposed that the Department of Health and Social Care ‘Market 
Sustainability Improvement Fund’ granted to Adult Social Care will be utilised to expand 
front line and managerial staff in the team. Work is also planned to review and revise data 
collection, with the aim of improving how Adult Social Care can evidence the increase in 
demand and complexity and gather information regarding unmet need and lack of 
resources. 

We now have comprehensive internal Safeguarding Policy and Procedures which were 
drafted in consultation with the City Safeguarding team, drawing on the team’s extensive 
experience and high quality assurance standards.  

The safeguarding training has been updated in line with the revised Policy and Procedures 
and we have a training review framework to ensure that training is iterative; training 
updates are timely, progressively and responsive to meet the needs of the workforce and 
proactively imbed leaning. Safeguarding Social Workers have been involved in the design 
of the training and co-deliver the training with the Safeguarding Training Lead.  

We have restarted reflective Practitioner forums and are also introducing Safeguarding 
reflective sessions from September, some of the topics identified so far include: 

• Learning from Serious Case Reviews (SAR) 

• Court of Protection 

• Positive Risk Taking 

• Safeguarding and the use of Legislation (Mental Capacity Act / Mental Health  

Nottingham City Council are now involved in the ADASS East Midlands Safeguarding 
Adults Community of Practice (CoP), this is a forum for lead Safeguarding officers across 
the region to come together to share best practice, develop learning and drive the 

Page 41



 

 
 

 26 

safeguarding agenda across the ten local authorities within the East Midlands ADASS 
region.  

Pay has increased and Social Work colleagues have more opportunities to progress within 
Adult Social Care through the introduction of a Career progression pathway. Given the 
demands and complexity of Safeguarding work, it is essential we recruit and retain 
experienced Social Workers where we are assured of high quality interventions with adults 
at risk.  

The City benefits from a dedicated City Safeguarding Team who undertake the majority of 
Safeguarding Enquiries. Due to the specialism, there are strong partnerships with 
Safeguarding Leads in other agencies across the City, which is evidenced through the 
local, bespoke partnership procedures we have developed, including Cause to Enquire. 
Provider Investigation, and Provider Failure. The City Safeguarding Team provide advice 
and support to colleagues undertaking Safeguarding Enquiries in other Adult Social Care 
Teams, and all colleagues can access the advice and guidance of the Adult Safeguarding 
Quality Assurance Team. 

Making Safeguarding Personal is embedded in our internal Adult Safeguarding Policy & 
Procedures, and our Training and development programme. Citizens expressed or desired 
outcomes, and whether we have met them fully, or partially, as a result of a Safeguarding 
intervention are recorded in every intervention in our electronic case records. We 
consistently achieve high percentages of meeting fully, or partially, citizens desired 
outcomes. 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board 

In July 2022 the Nottingham & Nottinghamshire CCG aligned with Bassetlaw CCG to 
become the Nottingham & Nottinghamshire ICB. This has aligned core functions, policy 
and procedures and workstreams across the wider Nottingham & Nottinghamshire area.  

Following the BBC’s Panorama Programme aired on September 28th 2022 the NNICB 
undertook a piece of work to obtain assurance around the patient welfare and advocacy in 
all Mental Health in patient settings in the Nottingham City & Nottinghamshire area. We 
identified key areas of enquiry and made recommendations relating to these to the best 
placed members of the group, this included linking with the private providers and 
commissioning a local advocacy organisation to ‘in reach’ into these services to get the 
voice of the patient. 

In August 2022 a multiagency review was undertaken across Nottingham City and 
Nottinghamshire in relation to the increasing number of cases being heard at MARAC, for 
all agencies involved MARAC pressures are resource heavy and during the review it was 
identified that there was an increase in the number of repeat cases being heard. Although 
some changes were made and repeat cases reduced, there was an increase in new cases 
so demand remains unchanged.  

The Adult Safeguarding Team have continued to support when required the multi-agency 
response to the National Asylum dispersal programmes and the support for Afghan 
refugees. This has included working with both Local Authorities in relation to the Homes 
for Ukraine scheme. 

The NNICB Care Home and Home Care Quality Assurance team have undertaken more 
than 200 face to face quality visits between April 2022 and March 2023. The team use a 
hybrid approach of face-to-face visits as well as virtually reviewing documents to ensure 
providers are progressing against their action plans.  

Page 42



 

 
 

 27 

Following learning identified in a number of Statutory Reviews including DHR’s we worked 
with Domestic Abuse leads in Nottingham City to develop and produce a 7 minute briefing 
and animation on Professional Curiosity as this had been identified as learning from these 
reviews. 

Whilst awaiting the outcome of the consultation on the Code of Practice for LPS, the ICB 
has continued to be proactive in its progression of those cases which are fully funded CHC 
and where a Deprivation of Liberty is or may be occurring for community cases through the 
COP processes. 

The NNICB has continued to provide and deliver updates and support to Primary Care 
through our GP Leads programme, TeamsNet and Provider forums. Following the Covid 
19 Pandemic we have decided to continue to provide these ‘virtually’ as this has not only 
allowed for session to be able to continue but has also resulted in an increased 
attendance.  

A key theme cited in learning from both DHR’s and SAR’s identified a lack of Professional 
Curiosity. With the support of funding via the CDP an educational animation to promote 
Professional Curiosity and an understanding around the importance of it was developed 
and promoted on email signature.   

Professional Curiosity  YouTube link. 

Significant work is underway both nationally and locally around the growing numbers and 
the increased risks to CYP with severe mental illness and complex needs.  Supporting 
these individuals to ensure that they receive treatment at the right time in appropriate 
settings along with supporting their transition to adulthood is a priority for the ICB.  

The NNICB safeguarding team continued to offer mutual aid and facilitated regular 
safeguarding meetings until mid 2022 with the provider leads, this helped identify and act 
upon emerging themes and situations which were occurring as a health system.  

The NNICB continue to chair and co-ordinate bi monthly meetings of the new ICS 
Safeguarding & Public Protection Assurance Group (SPPAG) which includes both Acute 
and Community Health providers and representatives from both Local Authorities and 
Safeguarding Boards. 

As a ICB we remain compliant with all our statutory duties in relation to the Care Act 
(2014) & Statutory guidance and commenced submission of statutory reviews via the 
NHSE Safeguarding Statutory Review case tracker from September 2022. NHSE carry out 
“assurance conversations” with the Chief Nurse and Assistant Directors for Safeguarding. 
These conversations focus upon the ICB Heat Map returns that are submitted to NHSE on 
a quarterly basis. NHSE base these upon emerging national key themes. The Heat Map 
for 22 -23 was about the development and maturity of Safeguarding within the ICS which 
Nottingham & Nottinghamshire ICB were able to evidence that we were fully compliant 
with by Quarter 3. The ICB staff training figures for Adult Safeguarding are 94% against a 
target of 95% at the end of May 2023.  

Information sharing meetings continue between NNICB and both LA’s in relation to care 
home and home care intelligence, these have been made stronger during and following 
the pandemic. There is now an Integrated Group Manager covering both the ICB and the 
County Council Quality and Market Management Teams. The Care Home and Home Care 
Dashboard has been developed from a range of data sources, this is now used across the 
system to identify areas of concern, prioritise resources and support providers. 

NNICB has several internal teams that work directly with our patients. All receive 
safeguarding training which includes Making Safeguarding Personal. Over the last 18 

Page 43

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fyoutu.be%2FNW_XBppUlBU&data=05%7C01%7Cishbel.macleod%40nhs.net%7C59604f6353594500237b08db68cf8ee9%7C37c354b285b047f5b22207b48d774ee3%7C0%7C0%7C638219012877244445%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Sxw2S575kE0vvik647ENFH3X6UvX2gN0HN3dVYfu2HA%3D&reserved=0


 

 
 

 28 

months these patient facing teams have received enhanced MSP as part of the alignment 
and development of the new ICB. Mental Capacity Act (2005) has also been rolled out 
across all relevant staff and Primary care as part of the programme of training in 
preparation for LPS implementation. We have now matched Mental Capacity Training with 
certain job profiles to make it mandatory for the role.  

Nottingham CityCare 

The Safeguarding training offer has been under continual review and to align with both the 
Core Skills framework and the Intercollegiate documents there has been some changes to 
the offer. At induction all staff complete the Think Family Basic Safeguarding Session 
which includes Safeguarding Adults Level 1 and Safeguarding Children Level 2. There is a 
further session at induction for all clinical staff of Safeguarding Children Level 3 and 
Safeguarding Adults Level 3. The team also deliver Domestic Abuse and MCA training at 
induction which is now classed as essential training.  

The community setting has seen an increase in complexity and CityCare teams have been 
working under increased pressures, related to staffing capacity and the need to deliver 
safe and effective high-quality care in an environment where many adults have been 
isolated or been impacted by economic stressors. We have therefore seen staff managing 
significant complexity and this highlights the need for those in clinical practice to have a 
good level of understanding of the Mental Capacity Act and application within clinical 
practice. 

Compliance figures for training continue to be closely monitored, and collaborative work 
between Workforce Development and the Safeguarding team have seen MCA compliance 
increase by 15%, whilst the other topics all show a nominal increase. We also provided 
“bitesize” training sessions via MS teams on subjects and themes identified from local and 
national learning.  

In 2021 a three year overarching action plan for MCA was created to build upon and 
further sustain the work already achieved. This action plan is on the risk register and forms 
the basis of our work around knowledge and application of the Mental Capacity Act in 
clinical practice, and to ensure that a proactive, partnership approach is being utilised so 
that staff are well supported when managing complex cases.  

Our Freedom to Speak Up Policy is supported by our Freedom to Speak Up Guardian and 
Champions who are responsible for providing an independent, objective ear for all workers 
who wish to raise a concern which they feel cannot be dealt with informally with the 
manager.  

Our policies and procedures are in place to ensure staff have clear guidance around how 
to raise a concern. Concerns that are raised via this process are monitored via “SILLF” 
(Serious Incident Learning Lessons Forum). 

We recognise that early intervention can make a huge difference in outcomes to the lives 
of adults who are experiencing or at risk of abuse and neglect. At CityCare, prevention 
takes place in the context of person-centred support, with the aim that individuals are 
empowered to make choices and manage risks safely. We place emphasis on everybody 
having a role to play in preventing abuse and neglect and we work with a Think Family 
ethos, underpinning all safeguarding work. 

We continue to sustain and build relationships with our partners across the ICS and we 
know that where there are complex cases and safeguarding concerns, we have best 
outcomes for our citizens when we work together, utilising different agencies expertise and 
skills.  

Page 44



 

 
 

 29 

The Safeguarding Service provide a “duty telephone advice line” available to all staff who 
have a complex case or have identified safeguarding concerns in their practice. Staff can 
use the advice line to get support as needed.  

We also have safeguarding champions who act as link workers, promoting good practice 
and cascade information and learning to their teams. Our aim is that every team within the 
organisation will have a safeguarding champion. Over the past year the topics covered at 
the champions meeting include Legal Literacy and Self Neglect. Domestic Abuse is a 
standing item on the agenda. 

Over the last year, we have continued to have weekly CityCare Holistic Incident Review 
Panel meetings (CHIRP). This is a multi-professional panel, including membership from 
team managers, Tissue Viability, Infection Control, Safeguarding and the Quality team 
where all moderate and high-risk incidents are reviewed.  

We value the relationships that we have with partner agencies, both in the local authority 
and throughout the ICS and continue to work in partnership where there are adult 
safeguarding concerns. 

The Quality Information Sharing Forum (QUIF) is a subgroup of the Quality and Patient 
Safety Group. Meetings are held on a monthly basis to provide a forum for CityCare staff 
to share information on care homes and care agencies. This includes good practice as 
well as patient safety concerns.  The Minutes of our internal monthly QUIF meetings are 
shared in their entirety with the Local Authority. This enables the Local Authority QUIF to 
triangulate their own concerns with those held by CityCare as a provider service.   

Over the last year we have continued, with the support of the Business Team, on a project 
looking at Safeguarding data collection and analysis across the organisation. This will 
allow in depth data collection around the direct work the adult services are undertaking 
and reflects how our safeguarding activity is impacting and supporting front line work. It is 
anticipated this will enable the service to readily identify themes and adapt training, 
communications, and supervision in a more responsive way. 

Safer recruitment policies and procedures are in place and all staff working with children, 
young people and adults are required to undertake enhanced DBS check prior to 
commencing employment. We have an Allegations against staff policy and pathway which 
is utilised where any allegation is made against a member of staff working with children, 
young people, or adults at risk.  

In the last year we have been invited to sit on the Nottingham City Hoarding Panel Pilot . 
The Hoarding Panel exists to ensure that agencies are aware of individuals at risk of harm 
from hoarding as identified by any partner agency. The sharing of information aims to 
increase the safety and overall wellbeing of vulnerable adults with a focus on strength-
based approaches, prevention and monitoring.  

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) underpins all our adult safeguarding policies and 
procedures, training, safeguarding supervision and advice. We have also provided 
additional guidance to staff on our safeguarding intranet to further support practice in this 
regard. MSP aligns with the principle of person-centred care which is a thread that should 
run throughout all healthcare interventions and staff are encouraged to talk to adults and 
establish their wishes and feelings and to ascertain what they would like to happen when 
safeguarding concerns are identified. 

We have internal guidance around non-engagement, in the form of a non-engagement 
checklist which is available on SystmOne and can be utilised to ensure all avenues have 
been appropriately explored with a person in situations when they are struggling to engage 
with their recommended care and treatment. We use this alongside the multi-agency 

Page 45



 

 
 

 30 

guidance around non-engagement. All patients should have personalised care plans, 
which are created with the person to identify their priorities, their goals and how we can 
achieve this.  

There continue to be vacancies within the service and there is ongoing work in line with 
the CityCare Retention and Recruitment plan. CityCare have established a Health and 
Wellbeing group which includes representatives from across the organisation and is 
chaired by the Assistant Director of Organisational Development. The Group is responsible 
for providing the People Steering Group with Alerts/Advise and Action Logs/reports related 
to all aspects of workforce health and wellbeing. The Stress management policy has been 
updated and there are plans for the introduction of Health and Wellbeing champions.  

Community Protection (changing to ‘Communities’) 

Domestic and Sexual Violence and Abuse 

The Director of Adult Health and Social Care has sponsored a review of the Domestic 

Abuse Referral Team. The Community Safety Strategy Manager is leading the review 

alongside colleagues in Children’s and Adult Services. There are a range of issues to 

resolve, but further discussions within the city council for tech solutions and with partners 

to ensure all high-risk survivors of domestic abuse are supported are planned.   

The Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) review is being jointly lead by 
the DSVA teams within City and County Councils to ensure the outcomes for the 
partnership across Nottinghamshire is aligned. In addition, Adult Social Care are reviewing 
their engagement with MARAC and have outlined proposals which are currently being 
considered. Liaising with the Domestic Abuse Commissioners Office (DACO) and Safe 
Lives to explore national best practice and discuss options for further changes to the local 
approach will be a priority in 2023/2024.    

Severe and Multiple Disadvantage (SMD) now includes domestic abuse and the Women 
and SMD working group chaired by Dr Lyndsey Harris reports to both the Changing 
Futures Board and the DSVA Strategy Group. Domestic Homicide Reviews identified SMD 
as a key feature of DHR’s in Nottingham and the action plan for the group reflects that. 
The Safe Accommodation Team based with Housing Aid and employed by Juno Women’s 
Aid includes SMD posts and an Older women and DVA post.  

Slavery Exploitation Team (SET) 

There has been significant increase in referrals; in 2021/2022 the average number of 
referrals per month was 14, in 2022/2023 the average number of referrals per month was 
23. The most common referral type in this time was financial exploitation (112 cases) 
which has continued to rise since the pandemic and cost of living crisis. Cuckooing 
continues to be a high referral type (90 cases); of particular concern is repeat offenders 
(one person cuckooed 11 addresses over 12 months) and more frequently, perpetrators 
occupying multiple accommodations in supported living blocks for the purposes of using it 
as a base or ‘trap house’ for the distribution of drugs and other criminal activity. Other case 
types include sexual exploitation, criminal exploitation, forced labour/labour exploitation, 
human trafficking, domestic servitude, false imprisonment, debt bondage, county lines, 
Child Criminal Exploitation and Child Sexual Exploitation. 

Nottingham City Council have ownership of SERAC (Slavery Exploitation Risk 
Assessment Conference) including the SET holding chair responsibility. The SERAC 
model supports the identification of a cohort of people that don’t meet care act or police 

Page 46



 

 
 

 31 

thresholds and offers a pathway to intervention. It creates an instant response to 
safeguard, tackle criminality and hold agencies accountable. The SERAC partnership 
works to find pathways to safeguard, taking into account and addressing each individual’s 
vulnerabilities. Cases are not discharged due to ‘non-engagement’. The SERAC 
partnership aims to ensure effective communication with relevant agencies to formulate a 
joint approach with clear actions. A best practice case study on NCCs SET and SERAC 
model was used in the Local Government Association refreshed guidance on Tackling 
Modern Slavery released in October 2022.  

The SET does not have a statutory referral pathway so if other services are unaware of the 
team or chose not to refer, the team will not be aware of risks/concerns. The team is 
currently exploring collaborating with NGOs who deliver First Responder National Referral 
Mechanism training to ensure standardised training is delivered to all local services. 

A RAG Rating tool was created and implemented in August 2022 to support in identifying 
risks in the areas of housing, disability, mental health, substance use, agency involvement, 
immigration status, risk of absconding, police incidents, hospital presentation and 
slavery/exploitation/trafficking. This allows the team to prioritise focus and action plan, but 
also ensures ASD is being addressed and the correct agencies brought into the SERAC 
multi agency arena. 

Development and maintenance of a continuous process for identifying and disseminating 
best practice in relation to tackling slavery and exploitation and delivering Awareness 
Raising sessions to internal and external partners. Delivery of workshops to cohorts of 
newly qualified social workers via social care’s Assisted and Supported Year of 
Employment programme. 

Page 47



 

 
 

 32 

 

Safeguarding Gateway 

The Communities directorate has multiple service areas that keep records on different IT 
platforms. In response to cases where earlier intervention could have been instigated, the 
Safeguarding Gateway was launched in August 2021. Following affiliated face to face 
safeguarding training to all frontline officers, the service offers assurance to service areas 
in the Communities Directorate that any concerns for safeguarding or welfare have been 
adequately dealt with and referred to the relevant agencies. Accredited safeguarding 
training has been delivered to all front line CP officers. 

The prevent team have established links with a number of projects in the community and 
submitted funding proposals to the Home Office. All youth organisations in the City have 
been able to access local training with a specialist provider in March 2023. Training on 
Prevent in the Council and for partners is evaluated. Benchmarking from the Home Office 
shows considerable improvement in all areas of the prevent duty including 
communications, training and policy. 

Preventing Violent Extremism 

The Head of Community Safety chairs the Channel Multi Agency case conference for 
reducing the risk of radicalisation following a Prevent referral. Working with Police, Health, 
MH and Social Care a multi-agency plan is developed for each case accepted at Channel 
with consent.  

Case study 

Background 

The Slavery and Exploitation Team received a referral from a support service for a 
vulnerable adult who had a learning disability and challenges with substance use. 
Concerns were that he was being financially exploited by way of being forced to pay 
other people’s drug debts. There had been a number of physical assaults against him 
by both drug dealers and users. 

What happened next 

Observations had been made by professionals that he was struggling with mental 
health and personal hygiene, however substance use was preventing him from 
accessing support with specialist services to address this. A social care referral had 
been made previously but he had not been eligible. 

Following immediate welfare checks by police (at the request of the SET team), 
effective referrals were made to adult social care, substance use services and 
counselling. 

Multi-disciplinary meetings were instigated to explore interventions and pathways to 
support. 

Outcome 

Although deemed to have capacity, further assessments resulted in the diagnosis of 
a cognitive impairment disability and he was able to access mental health specialist 
supported accommodation. He moved 3 months after the initial referral and is 
continuing to engage with services around substance use, mental health and 
personal daily routines. 

Page 48



 

 
 

 33 

Referrals into Nottinghamshire Prevent have decreased by 15% on the previous year. 
Education provided the majority of these referrals (37% in total), closely followed by 
policing. An emerging theme in the referrals is young people who have witnessed 
domestic abuse, across all ideologies. Online radicalisation, the manosphere and gore 
obsessions are also of concern particularly for young people. The Prevent Coordinator and 
Prevent Education Officer are funded by the Home Office to 2025. 
 
Prevent  

Prevent Officers and those chairing Channel have additional annual training from the 
Home Office, Police vetting and National Security Clearance. All Communities staff have 
undertaken Prevent Training over 22-23, amendments to the corporate NCC safeguarding 
e-learning should make sure this is refreshed every 2 years. 

Community Protection Officers 

Out of hours checks on behalf of adult services continue and are increasing. A new referral 
system has been implemented utilising digital tools. This allows the Modern-Day Slavery 
and Exploitation team to make real time referrals, which has seen an increase in cases 
and improved governance. This is all to a continued back drop of reduced staffing and 
conflicting demands.  

Early intervention strategies have included referring citizens into community support 
networks and supporting multi agency structures (such as SERAC) to provide a 
continuation of monitoring for citizens where there are ongoing concerns for welfare. 

On conducting welfare checks, officers will respond to immediate risk but also consider the 
individual’s needs (ensuring there is food in the cupboards and people aren’t without 
electricity/gas). On making a referral to Adult Safeguarding, officers will meet interim 
needs: taking a person to a place of safety (potentially hotel accommodation), sourcing a 
meal. Support is also offered to multi agency panels to monitor ongoing support needs. 

Anti-Social Behaviour team 

The ASB team lost 50% of its staffing at the end of financial year 2021 therefore there are 
less officers doing this role in general.  

Risk mitigation in regards to missed visits is covered in partnership with CPOs, Nottingham 
City Housing Services and Nottinghamshire Police. Safeguarding checks are completed at 
this stage and referrals made when needed to the gateway and/or adult social care. 

Due to the triaged operational work with CPOs early intervention strategies have included 
referring citizens into community support networks and supporting multi agency structures 
(such as SERAC) to provide a continuation of monitoring for citizens where there are 
ongoing concerns for welfare. ASB officers remain focused on safeguarding and per the 
case management risk assessment process. 

Officers have completed eLearning safeguarding training, all colleagues assess the needs 
of victims and offenders upon being commissioned a case to the ASB team.  

Environmental Health and Public Protection 
 
Frontline officers attend relevant partnership meetings as required (hoarding panel, 
Complex Persons Panel, SERAC). Training around relevant safeguarding is provided for 
identified different groups, such as taxi drivers. This works in conjunction with proactive 
taxi licensing operations. Proactive visits are conducted in instances where information is 
received indicating concerns such as overcrowding or exploitation. 
 

Page 49



 

 
 

 34 

Communities 

The redesigned Resident Development team (RDO) are embedded and are establishing 
links with partners to gain insight and better support safeguarding issues.  

Refreshed safeguarding referral information has been cascaded to the team (RDO team) 
so they understand their role in safeguarding.  

The redesign of the merger of Community Cohesion and Neighbourhood teams has been 
completed and the team are embedding well. Their role in safeguarding has been 
reconfirmed. 

Women with no recourse to public funds have increased difficulty accessing refuges, 
especially those with no children. 

There is a reduction in access to services, particularly for the digitally excluded; there has 
been no advertising in spaces such as public toilets or raising awareness of events. 

Nottinghamshire Probation Service 

Nottingham City Probation Delivery Unit (PDU) have had challenges of high workloads 
against a reduced staffing profile to varying degrees since last year. Whilst we have 
continued to commit to a core standard of service delivery as defined in the National 
Prioritisation Framework (PF), we have been able to allow some flexibility to our staff in 
terms of the sequencing of some areas of our work on cases who pose a medium or low 
risk of harm. The Framework does not give any flexibility around the core tasks of 
safeguarding and we continue to mandate attendance at MARAC/MAPPA and Child 
Protection Conferences. We remain committed to prioritising work with our high and very 
high risk of harm individuals. We have also recently implemented a policy whereby we 
complete child safeguarding and police domestic abuse checks on ALL of our people on 
probation regardless of whether they have been convicted of an offence against a child or 
an offence involving domestic abuse.  

We have recruitment campaigns ongoing and have continual cohorts of trainee probation 
officers (PQUIPS) starting and qualifying nationally to improve the vacancy picture over 
the coming months and years. The allocation of Newly Qualified Officers (NQOs) is made 
divisionally at the point each cohort qualifies and then locally we are able to determine 
directing them to work in the most under resourced teams. 

Safeguarding is an integral part of all of our assessment tools this includes our main 
assessment tool (OASys) where there are quality expectations of these assessments 
which incorporates safeguarding adults and children and identifying the level of risk posed 
to the public, known adults, children, staff and other prisoners. Our organisation is aware 
of and compliant with s.42 to s.46 of the 2014 Care Act, as well as chapter 14 of the 
Statutory Guidance, both of which detail organisational responsibilities regarding adult 
safeguarding. We also have a formal process of our responsibility for identifying and 
referring incidents of potentially concerning practice which may meet Safeguarding Adult 
Review (SAR) criteria to the local Safeguarding Adults Board.  
 
The NPS ensures that all staff are aware of their personal responsibility to report 
safeguarding concerns as well as ensuring that poor practice is identified and improved.  
Our ' new starter' induction programme ensures that staff, regardless of grade, and 
volunteers are made aware of their adult safeguarding responsibilities.   
 
All of the Assurance and QA tools used in the Probation Service include guidance and 
require reference and assessment of Adult Safeguarding issues. We monitor the outcomes 

Page 50



 

 
 

 35 

and actions from our Serious Further Offences (SFOs), Safeguarding Adult Reviews 
(SARS) and Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) and have regular Effective Practice and 
Performance meetings with our senior managers for the dissemination of learning to the 
wider staffing group. Whilst we do not have performance measures and / or indicators 
regarding adult safeguarding there are core expectations in relation to safeguarding and 
risk management planning which would be picked up by the quality assurance process.   
 
Following the unification of the Probation Service there has been a renewed emphasis with 
our operational staff on the importance of safeguarding and this is reflected within the 
unification mandatory training schedule. Safeguarding discussions are also an integral 
feature of supervision sessions between the probation practitioner and the senior 
probation officer. Alongside, this our MAPPA protocols mandate consideration of child and 
adult safeguarding issues within all formal meetings and our assessment tool OASys also 
gives specific consideration to adult safeguarding issues and the safeguarding of children 
and vulnerable adults is clearly listed within our Quality Audit tool. 
 
There has been work undertaken centrally to support the adaption of licence conditions to 
support people with learning difficulties to understand the terms of their supervision. We 
also utilise the Personality Disorder Project which supports us with a plan of best practice 
to support the individual to engage and to manage any barriers which may be problematic 
in this process based on the individuals’ personal circumstances/needs/vulnerabilities. 
  
The Probation Service also undertake nationally a People On Probation Survey which 
collates their views on their experience of supervision and this can be completed digitally 
or via our people on probation focus groups.  

East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) 

EMAS are invited to attend the LSABs across the East Midlands. The Ambulance 
Operations Managers for each Division are expected to attend their local Board. We aim to 
attend 80% of boards, over a rolling 12-month period. Despite the limited attendance at 
Boards the team have continued, where possible, to carry out individual assurance audits, 
as well as when asked attended Board to give a presentation on the structure and the 
service EMAS provide. 
 
EMAS continue to contribute to Safeguarding Adult Reviews, Domestic Homicide Reviews 
and Fatal Fire Reviews across the whole of the East Midlands.  
 
The Trust has a Safeguarding Adults Policy (Version 14). Polices are regularly reviewed 
triangulating best practice guidance and learning identified locally and Nationally. To 
support the Safeguarding Adults Policy there is a Safeguarding Children and Young 
Person Safeguarding Policy, Domestic Abuse Policy, Capacity to Consent and Regional 
Mental Health Conveyance Policy. PREVENT and Managing Allegations are part of the 
existing Adult and Child Policies.  
 
Safeguarding sits within the Director of Quality Improvement and Patient Safety portfolio 
and forms part of the Quality Strategy. The Executive Director of Quality Improvement & 
Patient Safety is the nominated Director for Safeguarding, reporting and providing 
assurance to the Trust Board. There are clear links from the frontline to Board and the 
reporting mechanisms are via the EMAS Clinical Governance Group and  
Quality and Governance Committee. The Safeguarding Team are also members of the 
Incident Review Group (IRG) and Confidential IRG Group (CIRG). The Head of 

Page 51



 

 
 

 36 

Safeguarding is the Chair for CIRG. Referral rates, participation in statutory reviews and 
staff allegations are presented to the Quality and Governance Committee via the Director  
of Quality Improvement and Patient Safety in the Quality Metrics Report monthly. This is to 
ensure that safeguarding remains a focus for discussion, safeguarding activity is 
monitored, safeguarding quality is reviewed and learning is embedded. 
 
There are two Safeguarding Leads. The Safeguarding Adult lead role also incorporates 
additional leadership on Learning Disability, and Mental Capacity. The Child and Young 
person safeguarding lead role incorporates additional leadership on the Child Exploitation 
and Child Death processes. They share the lead role for Domestic Abuse, FGM and 
Modern Slavery. The leads provide expert knowledge, advice and clinical leadership on all 
aspects of the safeguarding and domestic abuse agenda. They develop and deliver 
education in relation to safeguarding and its associated agendas. The leads represent the 
Trust at strategy meetings and case conferences as well as deputise for the Ambulance 
Operations Manager in attendance at safeguarding boards. The leads monitor  
compliance with policy and procedure through audit. They author the Trust Children 
Safeguarding Practice Reviews, Safeguarding Adults’ reviews and Domestic Homicide 
Reviews. They ensure that the Trust meets its statutory requirements in line with the 
LeDeR process. 
 
EMAS has a safeguarding training strategy and programme that considers legislative 
duties and national guidance including:  

• Safeguarding Children and Young People: roles and competencies for health care 
staff. Intercollegiate Document. Fourth Edition: 2019; 

• Safeguarding adults: Roles and competences for health staff intercollegiate 
Document First Edition:2019; 

• NHS England PREVENT training and competencies framework; Safeguarding 
Adults Assurance Framework 2020/21 Page 19 

• Key Skills for health. 

EMAS continues to deliver education using a “Think Family approach” in line with the 
above guidance. All EMAS safeguarding training is written and developed by trained 
educators in collaboration with experts in safeguarding. It is reviewed by peers providing 
assurance that the content is relevant and of high quality. 
 
EMAS staff are trained in the Mental Capacity Act and in recognition that any best interest 
decision should be proportionate and made with the patient wishes in mind and with 
support from those who know them best. 
 
EMAS have been promoting Making Safeguarding Personnel prior to the Care Act with a 
section on the referral form asking for the patient wishes since 2014. Staff are trained to 
ask what the patient wishes are from a referral unless the patient doesn’t have capacity or 
asking will put the patient or other members of the public at risk. 

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service 

During 2022-23 Response to operational incidents remained constant, but unlike the 
previous year, due to COVID there has now been an increase in Prevention activity 
including using Data intelligence to increase those areas in the county and city which have 
low smoke alarm ownership. Safe and Well visits had increased to by over 2,000 to 14,493 
visits, many of these from professional referrals where the occupants had already been 

Page 52



 

 
 

 37 

seen by a professional and very few safeguarding issues were identified by NFRS.   
 
Being a 24/7 Service, the main risk relating to Safeguarding for NFRS remains the need to 
ensure that all staff can identify concerns and refer them appropriately, and that Duty 
Managers have the qualification and competence to support the process and advise where 
necessary. L3 Safeguarding is now being rolled out to all stations due to the success of 
the training at 2 locations in March 2023.   
 
In May 2022, NFRS launched the Vulnerable Person module which means that although 
we still have the same database, it will have the ability to be person centred and allow us 
to see specific fire risks regarding a certain person in the household, not just the property 
risk.   
 
Where a threat is not immediate, NFRS has a process in place where staff report any 
Safeguarding concerns regarding service-users to an internal safeguarding team who 
triage the referral to determine a suitable course of action (i.e. a referral to MASH or for 
Care & Support Needs).  By following this process 87.7% of Safeguarding referrals 
submitted by NFRS in 2022/23 to either county or city, have gone forward to a Section 42 
enquiry or were already open to the enquiry from another agency when NFRS referred in. 
 
The CHARLIE risk matrix used by partner organisations to refer, and Delivery Teams to 
complete SWVs demonstrates NFRS’s person-centred approach towards it’s service-
users.  The funding of an Occupational Therapist within the Prevention Department further 
establishes the Service’s commitment to a person- centred approach, which extends to 
Safeguarding, and supports the Service’s understanding of and adherence to the Mental 
Capacity Act.   
 
MSP is embedded, and the Mental Capacity Act is referenced within the NFRS 
Safeguarding Policy and in-house Level 1 Alerter Training. The requirement to put an 
individual’s needs and wellbeing at the centre of all actions is fundamental to everything 
the Service does.  

Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

Throughout 2022-2023 there has been a review of the Trust quality governance structures 
and safeguarding has been considered as to how it can be better integrated into the wider 
quality structure.  
 
The current and likely future operational climate of health and social care means that 
staffing levels across the local health sector have been tested and as such consistency of 
staffing continues to be a risk. Flexible staffing arrangements such as those provided by 
bank and agencies have required a robust response to patient complaints, allegations, and 
patient safety incident monitoring as well as offers of training and support to the flexible 
workforce.  
 
As the pandemic restrictions abated through 2022/23 the TSPPS recommenced face to 
face safeguarding assurance visits. There is a recognition that there is an inherent risk of 
closed cultures developing with health care settings where vulnerable people access 
support. 
 
As we return to business as usual following the covid-19 pandemic the safeguarding 
training team have resumed face to face Think Family Safeguarding Training for all staff 

Page 53



 

 
 

 38 

induction sessions. In addition to this agreement has been given to extend the current half 
day safeguarding induction training to a full day to allow for practical application of 
safeguarding theory.  During the covid 19 pandemic the safeguarding training team 
developed a suite of additional e-learning packages to compliment the mandatory Think 
Family safeguarding level 1 and level 3 training requirements; including domestic violence 
and abuse training which, once launched, has been agreed to be a mandatory one-off 
training for all staff. Other live e-learning training resources include making safeguarding 
personal (MSP) and modern slavery.  
 
The safeguarding Single Point of Contact (SPOC) was developed in 2020 and has 
become integral to the work of the safeguarding service and as such there is a 
commitment to its ongoing monitoring and development. The SPOC data, intelligence from 
safeguarding supervision is used to inform future safeguarding priorities.  
 
The NHCFT Sexual Safety lead developed a sexual safety policy in 2019 which has been 
in place since alongside training, individual service quality improvement projects, 
enhanced data collection and bespoke sexual safety assurance visits in specific identified 
areas of concern. The sexual safety lead has also co-chaired the regional community of 
practice for sexual safety in mental health trusts. 
 
The TSPPS has actively worked with the quality governance team to provide safeguarding 
consultancy and advice in respect of the providers of sub-contracted beds and sought 
assurance regarding effectiveness of safeguarding systems and processes. Clear 
governance processes are now in place and regular meetings have been scheduled to 
maintain effective communication between provider organisations. 
 
The TSPPS has worked to ensure a coordinated response with patient safety colleagues, 
operational leaders and employee relations, especially regarding allegations against 
people in a position of trust. The PiPOT policy has been reviewed due 2022-2023, 
including staff consultation. The TSPPS now has a clear process for our contribution to 
allegations against staff and more robust reporting organisationally.  
 
The Trustwide Safeguarding Strategic Group is where safeguarding reports are presented 
and scrutinised. During 2022-2023 there was a broad governance review and the 
safeguarding reporting has aligned itself to the organisational quality governance structure 
reporting directly into the 3 divisional quality operational groups and up to the trustwide 
quality oversight group.  
 
The TSPPS identified the need to develop a trustwide making safeguarding personal 
strategy. This was born from a holistic vision to demonstrate our commitment to changing 
the culture of and practice of safeguarding to something that is person centred and 
outcome focused and that follows the principles of the Care Act.  
 
Following the recent government decision to postpone the implementation of LPS until the 

next parliament our plans to support the MCA team in implementing this are on hold. 

However, MCA remains a key theme running through our MARs and we will be working 

collaboratively to promote MCA within a subgroup of our Link Practitioner’s forum to build 

confidence within the workforce around the MCA and safeguarding interface. This will be 

accessible to all across the Trust, not just the link practitioners 

 
We will focus on transitional safeguarding within our QIP and work collaboratively across 

Page 54



 

 
 

 39 

the Trust and wider system to improve the outcome of children and young people 
transitioning into adulthood. 

Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust 

The Adult Safeguarding team continues to provide support, guidance and training for all 
NUH staff. We provide a single point of contact for safeguarding advice and referrals to 
ensure all written information shared externally is of the required quality and referred to the 
appropriate agency. The team ensure that appropriate information is reviewed and shared 
in a timely manner and support the local authority teams in gathering further information to 
safeguard patients. The safeguarding teams process all of the DASH forms as part of the 
quality assurance process in line with all safeguarding practices.  
 
The Trust safeguarding teams continued to contribute to MARAC’s in Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire. The adult safeguarding lead also chairs MARAC on a rotational basis 
and attends the MARAC steering groups. The number of MARAC’s in Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire has increased significantly over the last 2 years. The increase in the 
numbers of high-risk cases has affected the time required by the teams to complete the 
research and attend the MARAC’s.  

The Safeguarding Teams are responsible for the management of papers relating to the 
detention of patients under the MHA at NUH. There is a band 7 Mental Health Specialist in 
post whose role is to manage the detention papers with the support of the safeguarding 
teams. They are developing a training programme for staff in relation to patients with 
mental health issues and to work closely with the liaison psychiatry teams to ensure there 
is appropriate management of detained patients and improve patient experience. 

NUH safeguarding teams continue to work closely with the Slavery and Exploitation teams 
to ensure concerns are escalated and appropriate information shared. 

The Acute Learning Disability Liaison Team liaise with Nottingham University Hospital 
NHS Trust (NUH) via the Safeguarding Adults Matron and support the clinical teams in the 
care of patients with Learning Disability. The aim of this service is to contribute to better 
healthcare for people with a learning disability by reducing health inequalities and 
maximising positive outcomes and experiences. 

The Trust is mainly a referring agency; we share information when abuse or neglect is 
identified with a team of safeguarding specialists available for staff to contact for support. 
The team act as a single point of contact and quality assure all referrals. All staff in the 
team have had additional training by Equation in relation to domestic abuse and have 
good relationships with Equation and Juno Women’s’ aid to ensure the appropriate support 
is in place for survivors. 
 
The Trust has a policy for Assessment and Management of Individuals who Pose a Risk, 
the use of which is reviewed via the audit process.  
 
NUH has a Patient Engagement and Experience Steering Group. There is wide 
representation from our patient group and includes patients with a learning disability. 
All changes to the delivery of services are discussed at this group, and governance forums 
have patient representatives.  

Patients with a diagnosed Learning disability (LD) are alerted on Trust's computer system 
to alert staff and advises whom to contact for any support. The LD team work closely with 
the safeguarding teams and attend Adult Safeguarding Committee; they provide data and 

Page 55



 

 
 

 40 

information to this committee as part of their governance process. 
 
The Trust continues to support the Structured Judgment Case Review and LeDeR process 
and ensuring any learning is shared widely and processes are implemented to support 
service improvement. 

NUH has a dedicated team of safeguarding professionals. This includes a Head of 
Safeguarding, Named Doctors for Safeguarding, Named Nurse, Named Midwife, Adult 
Safeguarding Lead and specialist nurses and Practitioners for adult, children’s and 
midwifery safeguarding and domestic abuse. 

 
NUH has a suite of Safeguarding Policies procedures and associated guidelines. These 
are aligned to the Multi-agency Safeguarding policies and Procedures. 
 
The Trust has approximately 180 safeguarding champions. The safeguarding teams 
provide quarterly training and updates to this group to support dissemination of learning 
from SAR’s, DHR’s and CSPR’s across the organisation. 

Safeguarding training is delivered on a three yearly rolling programme delivering content in 
line with the intercollegiate document. 

Non-mandatory training is delivered to support clinical knowledge and understanding of 
safeguarding, safeguarding processes and MCA.  

Implementation of the Oliver McGowan Mandatory Training on Learning Disability and 
Autism (OMMT) is a priority for NUH in 2023/24. The training will assist health and care 
staff caring in supporting people with a learning disability and autism and has been 
launched following a long campaign. NUH are working closely with the ICB to support the 
implementation and roll out of this training. 

The organisation has a Safeguarding Adults Committee, this meet quarterly. The 
safeguarding committee receives quarterly activity data from the safeguarding team, 
updates from SCR’s, DHR’s and lessons learned from these and other complex case 
reviews. The divisional teams attend this committee to share relevant information and to 
take learning back to their divisional teams. The TOR has recently been reviewed and 
members are asked to provide a quarterly assurance update report to Committee, 
including audit feedback, training figures and actions plans. Relevant information from this 
committee is escalated through the wider Trust assurance/governance groups. 
 
The Trust identified a need for a consistent response to staff allegations across the Trust. 
The Head of HR operations and the Head of Safeguarding and Harm Free Care have 
developed a rapid review process and anecdotal evidence shows that the process is 
improving communication between teams and offers an improved level of support for 
managers as well as a consistent response to allegations. 

The staging and management of pressure ulcers is a responsibility for NUH as described 
in the Care Act 2014. Management and reduction of pressure ulcer incidents is a Trust 
Quality Priority for 2022/24, with the aim to reduce incidents by 30% over the next 2 years. 
A number of interventions and work streams are in progress to reduce the incidence of 
hospital acquired category 2 and 3 pressure ulcers, including new beds and pressure 
relieving mattress provision Trust wide, audit, focus work in ED, training and education for 
clinical staff and recruitment into a Band 7 Care Excellence Tissue Viability Fellowship. 
The method of investigating these incidents is changing. During 2023/2024, we will work 
alongside the Patient Safety Team and ICB Quality Leads to implement the Patient Safety 

Page 56



 

 
 

 41 

Incident Framework (PSIRF) in response to pressure ulcer and falls incidents, with a focus 
on learning and improvement.  

Making Safeguarding Personal is a core principle of adult safeguarding at Nottingham 
University Hospitals NHS Trust.  All safeguarding referrals are sent to the Trust team for 
quality assurance, specifically focussing on MSP and the outcomes the individual would 
like as a result of a referral. The NUH safeguarding referral form contains a mandatory 
MSP section that requires completion prior to the referral being processed. MSP is a core 
part of mandatory training and referrals data collects evidence around MSP, this is 
collected via clinical records within the electronic patient records. 

Nottinghamshire Police 

Domestic and sexual abuse remain a key priority for Nottinghamshire Police and our 
partners, further underpinned by the national introduction of the Violence Against Women 
and Girls (VWAG) strategy. Throughout Covid-19, we saw reductions in demand for 
domestic and sexual abuse services with this continuing into the 2020/21 performance 
year. After restrictions lifted, reported incidents rose and moving forwards to the 2022/23 
performance year Domestic abuse has increased by 5.8% (YTD) and rape alone saw a 
13.4% increase (YTD). Whilst we work to fully understand this increase, we can be 
confident that some of this is related to the increased confidence in reporting coupled with 
significant development of training being implemented to identify and recognise risk and 
safeguarding. Continued media awareness also encouraged reporting and collaborating 
with partners to ensure support and positive action. 

Repeat victimisation rates are static and every domestic abuse incident reported to us is 
put through our risk assessment process for right-to-know. Subsequently, our domestic 
violence disclosure scheme (DVDS) applications increased, recognised during the 
HMICFRS inspection in early 2022, which rated our protection of vulnerable people as 
‘good’. 

The volume of Public Protection Notices (highlighting vulnerabilities for children and 
adults) has steadily increased over the period and given the level of social need emerging 
from the cost-of-living crisis, we plan to undertake training for frontline staff around PPN 
necessity and quality over the next six months. 

There are several procedures which include employee risk. The overarching governance 
of which is via our Professional Standards Directory (PSD). In addition, there is a 
confidential reporting mechanism whereby colleagues can report any concerns they might 
have in relation to fellow officers/staff which are fully investigated by officers within PSD.  

We have continued to recruit additional new officers and staff to meet increasing demands, 
including a ‘fast track to detective’ scheme to mitigate national shortage of PIP2 
investigators. All new recruits, whether police constables or civilian roles, receive input 
stressing the importance of safeguarding across all areas of vulnerability.  

Working alongside the Partnership measures were agreed and implemented across the 
MARAC system to better manage those repeat cases heard at MARAC. Whilst it is 
assessed that this had some initial positive impact, the benefits of this change have been 
off set with the continuing increase of case numbers.  

 
The force has signed up to implement the new OP Soteria operating model.  Operation 

Soteria was launched as part of the government’s end-to-end Rape Review (published 

June 2021). The programme built on Project Bluestone, pioneering work in Avon and 

Page 57



 

 
 

 42 

Somerset which begun in 2020. The new model will transform the investigation of rape 

offences and will be launched nationally in late 2023.  

PPN Development Group has been implemented. MASH partners will discuss learning, 

themes, and best practise to support timely referrals and reduce unnecessary demand. 

The force has agreed to introduce a Prevention and engagement Hub. The proposed 
structure would integrate several prevention activities into one department, aligning with 
the National Prevention Strategy to ensure prevention is at the heart of the policing 
activities.  This will aid in better co-ordinating and managing performance particularly 
within safeguarding. 

The Prevention Hub aims to enhance awareness, utilization, and enforcement of 
preventative and supportive orders such as DVPN (Domestic Violence Protection Notice), 
DVPO (Domestic Violence Protection Order), SPO (Stalking Prevention Order), and Civil 
Orders. This includes the processing, governance, and monitoring of these orders to 
ensure effective management and availability of relevant information and intelligence to 
local policing. 

The Safeguarding team will consist of roles focused on identifying and supporting repeat 
victims, reducing perpetrator re-offending, developing strategies for long-term 
safeguarding, and breaking the cycles of victimization and offending. This will involve 
collaboration with partners, charitable organizations, diversionary groups, and internal 
crime prevention support. 

The new and improved Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC) was launched and 
operationally in August 2022. The centre includes provisions required by the forensic 
science regulator and delivery of the UK Accreditation Standards compliance. 
Commissioned services are co-located within the new SARC to enhance the victim’s 
journey from initial police contact and provide ongoing support to vulnerable victims of 
sexual offences.  

The ‘Know it, Spot it, Stop it’ campaign was relaunched during this reporting period to 
further increase knowledge around vulnerability, both within force and to the wider public. 
It identifies and explains the 14 strands of vulnerability, signs that a person may be 
vulnerable, and how to stop vulnerability being exploited.  

To support vulnerable adults in custody, an appropriate adult is available within the new 
custody suite in Nottingham’s Justice Centre between 8am and 8pm. As well as providing 
a face-to-face presence, they assist in administering rights and charges over the 
telephone. 

A bespoke auditing schedule is in place within the PP department to examine the 
investigative process, victim care and support, and suspect management, to ensure 
victims’ needs (established by victim needs assessments (VNAs)) are met. Rape and 
serious sexual offences (RASSO), child abuse, and domestic violence are amongst areas 
being audited twice yearly. 

Recommendations from SARs are recorded on 4action – an internal Public Protection 
Audit and external Force Audit regime which examines performance across a range of 
areas affecting vulnerability (knife crime, drugs, Antisocial behaviour) and includes areas 
of public protection, Rape and serious sexual offences and domestic abuse. Learnings 
from SARs/CSPRs/DHRs are monitored through the Organisation Learning and Risk 
Board chaired by the Deputy Chief Constable. 

Police co-chair a joint meeting attended by all regional force leads and CPS leads for 
Rape and serious sexual violence and attendees include the commissioned services 

Page 58



 

 
 

 43 

providing support to those victims and survivors (ISVAs). The group share best practice 
and provide feedback directly from users to enhance the service provided. Feedback 
within this quarterly meeting has provided amendments to joint guidance highlighting when 
ISVA support should be offered and when charges are authorised, an agreed requirement 
to hold Special measure meetings with the complainant together with their ISVA, allowing 
for on-going support through the criminal justice journey. 

To support victims through the police investigation ISVA workers are now co-located within 
Police stations. They have direct contact with the officers investigating rape and sexual 
violence, providing support during the initial contact with victims, support following Video 
recorded interviews and on-going support through the police investigative process.  

The force continues to utilise the Victim Needs Assessment (VNA) which was informed by 
commissioned services. The VNA is completed at the start of the victim’s journey and a 
further bespoke VNA is completed for any vulnerable victim to assist with the Achieving 
Best Evidence (ABE) process.  

  

Page 59



 

 
 

 44 

What next for 2023/24? 

Nottingham City SAB has an exciting year ahead, and has a new action plan with activities 
such as developing a Comms & Engagement Strategy, a new Quality Assurance 
Framework, a new Data Dashboard and plans for a multi-agency Conference.   

The Board will further develop its now established three-year Strategic Plan (2022–-2025) 
and will maintain a focus on three priorities: Prevention, Assurance and Engagement. Our 
annual action plan will focus on developing the evidence to demonstrate the difference the 
partnerships work makes to the residents of Nottingham City. The development of a new 
Quality Assurance Framework and multi-agency Data Dashboard will ensure we have a 
good overview of safeguarding activity in the City, and are focussing our resources in the 
right place. We will also be utilising recent census data to recognise 'communities of 
identity' from new national census that are underrepresented in adult safeguarding data, 
and engage with representative community groups to promote adult safeguarding 
messages. 

Having completed two SARs, we will now seek to publish them and to continue monitoring 
the action plans. The new SAR Impact Tool will be launched in 2023/2024 and will support 
the Board to understand how learning is embedded in practice. We will continue to receive 
and consider new SAR referrals eligibility and undertake statutory and non-statutory 
reviews as required. Partners will work more closely with Public Health and Housing 
colleagues and consider drug- and alcohol-related deaths and homelessness/rough 
sleeper deaths.  

We will be reviewing our existing policies, procedures and protocols as necessary through 
a comprehensive Policy and Procedure Review Schedule. All current Terms of Reference 
for the subgroups and the SAB Constitution will be reviewed, we will be launching the new 
SAB People in Positions of Trust (PiPoT) Guidance, and finalising the SAB Information 
Sharing Agreement.  

We will be establishing a local multi-agency working group to look at Transitional 
Safeguarding and establish what the current picture is and what agencies are doing in this 
emerging area of safeguarding. We anticipate this will provide the foundations for further 
work to continue into 2023/2025 where we can develop a local multi-agency approach.  

Finally, we will be supporting National Adult Safeguarding Awareness Week in November 
2023 and will seek to use new methods to raise awareness and share learning with 
professionals and citizens.  

 

Page 60



 

 
 

 45 

 

Reporting abuse 

You may know a person carrying out abuse and be worried about reporting them. If you 
are being abused, you do not have to put up with it. If someone you know is being abused, 
or you have a concern that they may be, you should first make sure that they are safe if it 
is possible to do so. 

Tell someone you trust or call Nottingham City Health and Care Point on 0300 1310 300 
and select option 2. Our offices are open from 8am to 6pm. If you live outside 
Nottingham City but within Nottinghamshire County boundaries, call Nottinghamshire 
County Council on 0300 500 8080. If you are unsure, call either of the numbers and report 
what is happening to you or the person you are concerned about. 

 

You can report abuse to us in the strictest confidence and your identity can be kept 
private. 

If it is an emergency, dial 999 

Page 61



 

 
 

 46 

Glossary of acronyms 

ASC    Adult Social Care 

CDP   Crime and Drugs Partnership 

CHARLIE-P Care and support needs; hoarding and mental health issues; alcohol 
and medication; reduced mobility; lives alone; inappropriate smoking; 
elderly; previous signs of fire 

CHC  Continuing healthcare 

COP  Court of Protection 

CQC   Care Quality Commission 

DBS   Disclosure and Barring Service 

DHR  Domestic Homicide Review 

DNACPR   Do not attempt cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) 

DoLS    Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 

DSL   Designated safeguarding lead 

GDPR   General data protection regulation 

HMICFRS Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue 
Services 

HMIP   Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Prisons 

HMP   Her Majesty’s Prison 

ICB   Integrated care board 

ICP   Integrated care partnership 

ICS   Integrated care system 

IICSA    Independent inquiry into child sexual abuse 

LD   Learning disability 

LPS    Liberty protection safeguards 

MAPPA   Multi-agency public protection arrangements 

MARAC   Multi-agency risk assessment conference 

MASH   Multi-agency safeguarding hub 

MCA    Mental Capacity Act 

MSP    Making Safeguarding Personal 

NCVS   Nottingham Community and Voluntary Service 

NICE   National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 

PiPoT   People in a position of trust 

PoP   People on probation 

PP   Public protection 

QA   Quality assurance 

SAB    Safeguarding Adults Board 

Page 62



 

 
 

 47 

SAR    Safeguarding adults review 

SERAC   Slavery and exploitation risk assessment conference 

SPOC   Single Point of Contact 

SWV   ‘Safe and well’ visit 

VAPN   Vulnerable adults provider network 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee 
16 November 2023 

 
 

Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust – Maternity Services and Well-Led 
 
Report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To review the progress made by the Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust 

(NUH) in addressing the issues raised following the Care Quality Commission’s 
(CQC’s) latest inspection of maternity services at the Queen’s Medical Centre 
and Nottingham City Hospital on 25 and 26 April 2023, and of NUH’s 
leadership, governance and culture (‘Well-Led’) on 6 and 7 June 2023. 

 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked: 
  

a) if it wishes to make any comments or recommendations in response to the 
report; and 

 
b) if it considers that any further scrutiny of the issue is required (and to identify 

the focus and timescales). 
 
3 Background information 
 
3.1 In December 2020, the CQC published a report that re-rated the maternity 

services provided by NUH from ‘Requires Improvement’ to ‘Inadequate’. 
Representatives of NUH attended the Committee’s meetings on 14 January and 
15 July 2021 to discuss the CQC findings and the actions being planned and 
taken to address them. 

  
3.2 In September 2021, the CQC published a further ‘Well-Led’ inspection report, 

giving an overall rating of ‘Requires Improvement’ with an ‘Inadequate’ rating for 
whether services were well-led. NUH representatives attended the Committee’s 
meetings on 11 November 2021 and 13 January 2022 to outline the action that 
had and would be taken in response to the findings. The Committee also heard 
from the NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(as the then local commissioner) and, separately, gathered additional evidence 
from NHS England and the trade unions representing NUH employees. 

  
3.3 On 17 February 2022, NUH representatives attended the meeting of the 

Committee to present the progress being made in improving maternity services. 
The CQC then carried out a further inspection of these services in March 2022 
and NUH representatives attended the Committee meeting on 19 May 2022 to 
explain the action that had been taken since this visit. The NHS Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board (ICB) also submitted a report to the 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



Committee meeting on 15 September 2022 to set out the details of the 
assurance and oversight arrangements that it had put in place in relation to 
NUH, as the new local commissioner. 

  
3.3 On 15 December 2022, NUH representatives spoke to the Committee on the 

progress made in addressing the issues identified by the CQC and subsequent 
improvement work. The NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care 
System (ICS) also provided its overarching perspective. As a result of concerns 
raised at this meeting in relation to the CQC’s identification of a culture of 
bullying and potential racial discrimination, NUH’s Chief Executive, the Chair of 
the Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) Network and the Chair of the 
BAME Shared Governance Council attended the Committee meeting on 16 
February 2023 to discuss the steps being taken to ensure a safe and inclusive 
workplace at NUH. 

  
3.4 The CQC’s latest inspection of maternity services took place on 25 and 26 April 

2023, with a ‘Well-Led’ inspection carried out on 6 and 7 June 2023. NUH’s 
Chief Executive, Chief Nurse, Head of Midwifery and Head of Maternity 
Services will be attending the meeting to present the key findings of these 
inspections, the action being taken and the future next steps, and an associated 
report from NUH is attached. The Chief Nurse for the ICB will also be in 
attendance at the meeting. 

 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 Care Quality Commission Update from Nottingham University Hospitals NHS 

Trust 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those disclosing 

exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust Inspection Report (Care Quality 

Commission, 13 September 2023) 
  
6.2 Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee – reports to and minutes of 

the meetings held on: 

 14 January 2021 

 15 July 2021 

 11 November 2021 

 13 January 2022 

 17 February 2022 

 17 March 2022 

 19 May 2022 

 15 September 2022 

 15 December 2022 

Page 66

https://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RX1/reports
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=8766&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=8994&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=9146&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=9148&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=9149&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=9150&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=9659&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=9662&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=9666&Ver=4


 16 February 2023 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Adrian Mann, Scrutiny and Audit Support Officer 
 adrian.mann@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 

Page 67

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=614&MId=9668&Ver=4
mailto:adrian.mann@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Title: CQC update from Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust  

Report for: Nottingham City Council Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny 

Committee 

Date: 16 November 2023 

Report prepared by: Michelle Rhodes, Chief Nurse, Nottingham University 

Hospitals NHS Trust 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

1. Purpose of this report 

This report provides an update on the key findings from the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) 

inspections of maternity services and leadership, governance and culture (known as well-led), 

conducted earlier this year.  

2. Introduction  

The CQC - the independent regulator of healthcare in England - inspected maternity services at 

Queen’s Medical Centre (QMC) and Nottingham City Hospital on 25 and 26 April. This was 

followed by a well-led inspection on 6 and 7 June 2023.  

The inspection report detailing the findings was published on 13 September and found that: 

 Maternity services have improved and are no longer rated inadequate. The overall rating of 

the service at both City Hospital and QMC has increased to requires improvement. The 

safety rating for maternity at the QMC and City Hospital sites has also improved to requires 

improvement from inadequate.   

 Significant improvements have been made in the Trust’s leadership and culture, and how it 

is managed, increasing the well-led rating from inadequate to requires improvement. The 

CQC found a reduction in staff reporting bullying with ‘significant progress in improving the 

culture’ and an executive team that ‘consistently led with integrity and were open and 

honest in their approach.’ 

Overall, the Trust rating remains at requires improvement. The well-led domain has improved from 

inadequate to requires improvement and the caring domain remains outstanding. 

 

 

 Page 69



 

 

3. Maternity services report 

The CQC carried out an unannounced inspection into maternity services on 25 and 26 April. They 

found improvements across both sites.  

 Improved levels or midwifery and nursing staff to keep women safe and to provide the right 

care and treatment. Managers also regularly reviewed and adjusted staffing levels and skill 

mix. 

 Compliance for mandatory training had increased since March 2022 by 20% and staff 

spoke positively about the comprehensive mandatory training module. 

 Most staff felt positive and proud to work in the organisation. Leaders and staff understood 

the importance of staff being able to raise concerns without fear of retribution, and they 

witnessed examples of where appropriate learning and action had been taken because of 

concerns raised. There is further work to do to embed this and ensure consistency for all 

staff.  

 Women were listened to and involved in their care. During the inspection, the CQC noted 

that women gave ‘overwhelmingly positive’ feedback about the service and staff who had 

cared for them. 

 The overall management of serious incidents had advanced, showing improved systems in 

place that positively impact on timeliness, oversight and identification of immediate actions 

and recommendations. 

 Improvements were seen in the triage unit and day assessment unit in relation to the 

separation of the triage and Day Assessment Unit (DAU) making a bespoke service for 

emergency care in pregnancy. And the introduction of Birmingham Symptom Specific 

Obstetric Triage System (BSOTS) contributing to over 96% of all pregnant people being 

seen within 15 minutes of arrival in the triage unit at the time of inspection. 

 Cardiotocography (CTG) monitoring for women, which was previously an area of concern, 

was now completed appropriately and was documented in line with national guidance. Staff 

followed and promoted best practice, reporting this approach was instrumental in improving 

patient safety.  

 The senior leadership team demonstrated a passion to improve the service for the women 

who chose to have their babies at the Trust, and for the staff who enabled this. 

3.1 City Hospital 

Maternity services at City Hospital improved on three of the five key questions CQC inspect (safe, 

responsive and well-led), in addition to the overall rating for maternity improving from inadequate 

to requires improvement. 

Overall, City Hospital’s ratings improved on the same key questions (safe, responsive and well-

led), in addition to the overall rating for the provider* from requires improvement to good. 

 

 

                                                
* Some services have not been inspected recently, therefore CQC make decisions on overall ratings taking into account the relative size of services 

and use their professional judgements to reach fair and balanced ratings.  

 Page 70



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The CQC reported that City Hospital must take action to bring services in line for the following 

legal requirements: 

 The Trust must ensure expressed breast milk is stored safely and in line with national 

guidance (also highlighted at QMC). 

 The Trust must follow appropriate guidance in the proper and safe storage and 

administration of medicines, including ensuring fridge temperatures are monitored, 

recorded and out of range temperatures escalated in line with Trust requirements (also 

highlighted at QMC). 

 The Trust must ensure there is an effective risk and governance system in place that 

supports safe quality care for all areas in the service, mitigates risks when identified, and is 

in line with the conditions placed upon their registration (also highlighted at QMC). 

3.2 QMC 

Maternity services at QMC also improved on three of the five key questions CQC inspected (safe, 

responsive and well-led – the same as City Hospital), in addition to the overall rating for maternity 

improving by one rating, from inadequate to requires improvement. 

 

 

Overall, QMC stayed the same across all of the domains, as well as the overall rating for the 

provider*. 

CQC reported that QMC must take action to bring services in line for the following legal 

requirements: 

 The Trust must ensure expressed breast milk is stored safely and in line with national 

guidance (also highlighted at City Hospital). 

 The Trust must follow appropriate guidance in the proper and safe storage and 

administration of medicines, including ensuring fridge temperatures are monitored, 

recorded and out of range temperatures escalated in line with Trust requirements (also 

highlighted at City Hospital). 

Page 71



 

 The Trust must ensure safe use of disposable curtains to ensure the reduction of the risk of, 

and preventing, detecting and controlling the spread of, infections, including those that are 

health care associated. 

 The Trust must ensure call bell systems are well maintained to keep women and their 

babies safe. 

 The Trust must ensure staff carry out risk assessments to keep women, their babies and 

staff safe from potential abuse. 

 The Trust must ensure there is an effective risk and governance system in place that 

supports safe quality care for all areas in the service, mitigates risks when identified, and is 

in line with the conditions placed upon their registration (also highlighted at City Hospital). 

 

4. Well-led report  

For well-led, the Trust’s rating improved from inadequate (rated in 2021) to requires improvement 

for the 2023 inspection. To thoroughly assess the well-led question, the CQC inspection team held 

virtual focus groups and reviewed internal policies and documents prior to the on-site inspection 

days on 6 and 7 June, where they conducted face-to-face focus groups and interviews.  

The inspection team noted positive developments in the following areas: 

 Strengthened leadership capacity and capability from a number of membership changes at 

Board level. This has contributed to greater collective decision making, shared 

responsibility and understanding of what the key challenges were in relation to quality and 

sustainability and what actions were needed to address them. 

 A credible vision and strategy that staff clearly understood and articulated what the ‘People 

First’ plan meant for them and their role in achieving the priorities identified. 

 An improving culture of high quality sustainable care with the majority of staff who engaged 

in the inspection stating they feel supported, valued and respected. Some challenges 

remained and concerns raised, which were recognised by leaders and plans were already 

underway to address them. 

 Governance arrangements had been developed to support good governance and 

management. Improvements had been noted at different levels of governance and 

management and how they functioned effectively and interacted with each other 

appropriately. There is more to do to ensure they are embedded and understood further. 

 There had been greater oversight and challenge of relevant information relating to quality 

and performance. Issues relating to maternity services, the impact of staffing issues on 

quality and emergency department pressures, including patient flow, were frequently and 

rigorously debated throughout the year at various sub-committees and the Trust Board. 

 People who use services, the public, staff and external partners were engaged and involved 

in shaping and improving the services and culture. There were examples of involving 

patients and public as partners, from all protected characteristics, in decision making to 

ensure the Trust provided services based on the needs of the local population. 

 

4.1 Trust-wide must-do and should-do actions 

From the well-led inspection, there was one Trust-wide must-do action and one Trust-wide should-

do action. This is a note-worthy improvement in comparison to the 2021 inspection where there 

were nine Trust-wide must-do actions and two Trust-wide should-do actions. 

Page 72



 

The one Trust-wide must-do action is in relation to the lack of consistency complying with its 

statutory duty of candour responsibilities.  

The one Trust-wide should-do action states the Trust needs to improve in its arrangements for 

identifying risks issues and ensuring mitigating actions are embedded. 

5. Areas of future focus and next steps 

Notwithstanding the clear improvements noted by the recent CQC report and associated improved 

ratings, it is evident there is more work to be done to sustain positive progress and put actions in 

place to address concerns raised. The below tables identify the key areas needing further focus. 

 

 

 

Maternity improvement areas 

Shared direction and culture: Implement a 2023-2025 Strategic Framework: Improving maternity 

safety and innovating care for local families. This new framework will enable timely completion of the 

outstanding actions from the original Maternity Improvement Programme and delivery of broader 

transformation in maternity services (including national drivers) under one more comprehensive 

umbrella, reflexive to emerging national and local evidence in a proactive and transparent way. 

Culture and engagement pathway: Deliver a culture and leadership transformation programme to 

address current challenges and develop an inclusive, open and honest culture which reinforces 

listening and responding to staff and service user voices to improve the quality of care. Including Just 

and Restorative principles, speaking up/ Freedom To Speak Up Guardians and addressing 

performance concerns. 

Equality, diversity and inclusion pathway: Dedicated plan to be developed through the culture and 

engagement work pathway, building on the initial work of the Inclusivity Maternity Task Force. To 

develop a BAME voice in maternity, and to continue to improve and promote diversity with women, 

families and staff. 

Service redesign and safe practice pathway: Service pathway developments to ensure the delivery 

of high quality, safe, effective and personalised care that is evidence-based. Includes response to 

‘safe’ and ‘effective’ regulatory domains. 

Governance pathway: Developing a robust quality governance framework, systems and processes 

(including risk management and incident identification, investigation and learning) to ensure care is of 

a consistently safe and high standard in-line with national best practice and guidance. 

Workforce and development pathway: Ensure the service has enough maternity staff with the right 

qualifications, skills, training and experience to keep women safe from avoidable harm and to provide 

the appropriate care and treatment. Implementation of the Birthrate Plus staffing report and actions for 

recruitment, appraisal, pastoral support and retention; ensuring training meets the Core Competency 

Framework version 2, supervision and CPD. 

Page 73



 

 

 

Well-led improvement areas (most aligned to CQC well-led quality statements) 

Shared direction and culture: Focus on the priorities and delivering the recommendations in the 

People First report. 

Governance and assurance: Continued development and maturity of the Accountability Framework and 

Quality Governance Accountability Framework (QGAF) across the organisation strengthening reporting 

and assurance flows of information.  

Duty of Candour: Improve the quality of interactions with patient, families and carers to ensure open, 

honest and transparent approach to engaging with patients, families and carers, particularly when care 

does not occur as planned. 

Workforce equality, diversity and inclusion and Freedom to Speak Up: Continue to improve 

organisational culture by eradicating bullying, harassment, racism and discrimination.  

Risk: This is a key area of focus for the Trust to strengthen processes and systems in place to identify, 

articulate and mitigate risk from ward to board.  

Learning, improvement and innovation: Strengthened and consistent use of learning and 

improvement methodology to drive key improvement programmes. Align to the findings of the Virginia 

Mason Institute diagnostic into the People First recommendation to create a single Quality Management 

System. 

Information and assurance systems: Ensure information is presented in an effective way that enables 

professional challenge in appropriate forums, specifically sub-committees and the Board. Re-focus and 

streamline the Integrated Performance Report to include prioritised metrics that are aligned to 

Improvement Programmes and to the refreshed enabling strategies in People First. 

Page 74



Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee 
16 November 2023 

 
 

Work Programme 
 
Report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To consider the Committee’s work programme for 2023/24, based on the issues 

identified by Committee members at previous meetings and any further 
suggestions arising from this meeting. 

 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked to note the work that is currently planned for the 

remainder of the 2023/24 municipal year and to make any amendments, as 
required. 

 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 The Committee has been established to: 

 hold local decision-makers, including the Council’s Executive for matters 
relating to adult social care and public health and commissioners and 
providers of local health services, to account for their decisions, actions, 
performance and management of risk; 

 review existing policies and strategies of the Council and other local 
decision-makers where they impact on adult social care and/or the health of 
Nottingham citizens; 

 contribute to the development of new policies and strategies of the Council 
and other local decision makers where they impact on adult social care 
and/or the health of Nottingham citizens; 

 explore any matters relating to adult social care and/or health affecting 
Nottingham and/or its citizens; 

 make reports and recommendations to relevant local agencies with respect 
to the delivery of their functions, including the Council and its Executive and 
commissioners and providers of local health services; 

 exercise the Council’s statutory role in scrutinising health services for 
Nottingham City, in accordance with the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) and 
associated regulations and guidance; 

 be part of the accountability of the whole health system and engage with 
commissioners and providers of health services and other relevant partners, 
such as the Care Quality Commission and Healthwatch; and 

 review decisions made but not yet implemented by the Council’s Executive 
in accordance with the Call-In Procedure. 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



3.2 As well as the broad powers held by all of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
bodies, the Committees holds the following additional powers and rights as part 
of its remit for health: 

 to review any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of 
health services in the area; 

 to require members of the Council’s Executive, and representatives of 
commissioners and providers of NHS and public health funded services, to 
provide information to the Committee, attend meetings and answer 
questions posed by the Committee; 

 to invite other persons to attend meetings of the Committee to provide 
information and/or answer questions; 

 to make recommendations and provide reports to relevant decision makers, 
including the Council’s Executive and commissioners of NHS and public 
health funded services, on matters within their remits – the Council’s 
Executive and commissioners of NHS and public health funded services 
have a duty to respond in writing to such recommendations; and 

 to be consulted by commissioners of NHS and public health funded services 
when there are proposals for substantial developments or variations to 
services, and to make comment on those proposals – in certain 
circumstances, the Committee has the power to refer decisions about 
substantial developments or variations in health services to the Secretary of 
State. 

 
3.3 The Committee sets and manages its own work programme for its Scrutiny 

activity. Business on the work programme must have a clear link to the 
Committee’s roles and responsibilities, and it should be ensured that each item 
has set objectives and desired outcomes to achieve added value. Once 
business has been identified, the scheduling of items should be timely, 
sufficiently flexible so that issues that arise as the year progresses can be 
considered appropriately, and reflect the resources available to support the 
Committee’s work. It is recommended that there are a maximum of two 
substantive items scheduled for each Committee meeting, so that enough time 
can be given to consider them thoroughly. 

 
3.4 The current work programme for the 2023/24 municipal year is attached, and 

the Committee is asked to review the business and make any amendments that 
are needed. Potential issues raised by Committee members to date are 
regularly scoped for scheduling in consultation with the Chair and the relevant 
senior officers and partners, and the Portfolio Holders with the appropriate 
remit. 

 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2023/24 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those disclosing 

exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None 
 

Page 76



6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Nottingham City Council's Constitution, Article 9 and Article 11 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Adrian Mann, Scrutiny and Audit Support Officer 
 adrian.mann@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 

Page 77

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/your-council/about-the-council/nottingham-city-councils-constitution/
mailto:adrian.mann@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 2023/24 

 
 

Meeting Items 

 
14 September 
2023 

 

 Appointment of Vice Chair 
 

 Committee Terms of Reference 
 

 Recovering and Sustaining General Practice 
To review local activity to recover access and sustain general practice in the context of the 
national delivery plan for recovering access to primary care 

 

 Quality Accounts 2022/23 
To note the comments submitted to Quality Accounts 2022/23 

 

 Work Programme 
 

 
12 October 2023 

 

 Adult Social Care Winter 2023/24 Preparedness 
To scrutinise how lessons learnt from winter 2023 are being used to inform planning and decision-
making for managing pressures in winter 2024  

 

 Adult Social Care Transformation Programme 
To scrutinise progress in delivery of the transformation programme 

 

 Tomorrow’s NUH Programme 
To receive an update on progress, including plans for public consultation 

 

 Work Programme 

P
age 79



 

 

Meeting Items 

 
16 November 
2023 

 

 Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2022/23 
To consider the Safeguarding Adults Board’s latest Annual Report 

 

 Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust - Maternity Services and Well-Led 
To review the progress since the last update and the response to the findings of the most 
recent Care Quality Commission inspection report 

 

 Work Programme 
 

 
14 December 
2023 

 

 Tomorrow’s NUH Programme - Public Consultation 
To review the development of the upcoming public consultation on Tomorrow’s NUH 

 

 [TBC] Mental Health Crisis Services 
To review the current provider offer to City residents in mental health crisis 

 

 Work Programme 
 

 
11 January 2024 
(proposed 
change to 18 
January 2024) 

 

 Impact of the Proposed 2024/25 Budget on Adult Social Care Services** 
To review the 2024/25 Budget proposals and consider their impact on the delivery of Adult 
Social Care 

 

 Work Programme 
 

 
15 February 2024 

 

 Pilot Care Quality Commission Care Act Assessment - Response to Findings** 
To review the findings of and response to the CQC’s pilot assessment of how the Council is 
meeting its Adult Social Care duties 

P
age 80



 

 

Meeting Items 

 

 Work Programme 
 

 
14 March 2024 

 

 Work Programme 
 

 
11 April 2024 

 

 Mental Health Transformation Programme 
To review the implementation of Mental Health Transformation in the City 

 

 Work Programme 
 

**The Committee’s business for its January and February meetings will be confirmed following the publication of the 
2024/25 Budget proposals, so may be subject to amendment 
 
Potential Items to be Scheduled 
 

 Nottinghamshire Sexual Violence Support Services 

 Co-Existing Substance Misuse and Mental Health Needs Support 

 Public Health Grant and Co-Production with Citizens 

 Population-Wide Approaches to Oral Public Health 

 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Impact – Smoking and Tobacco Control 

 Talking Therapies and the Step 4 Psychology Service – Health Inequalities Approach 

 Adult Social Care Transformation Programme – Organisational Development and Workforce Strategy 

 Improving Uptake of Childhood Vaccinations – Joint Funding Activity 
 
Other Activity 
 

 Reflection on the 2023/24 Work Programme (March 2024) 

 Approach to the 2023/24 Quality Accounts  (April 2024) 

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2022/23
	Enc. 1 for Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2022/23
	Enc. 2 for Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2022/23

	5 Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust - Maternity Services and Well-Led
	Enc. 1 for Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust - Maternity Services and Well-Led

	6 Work Programme
	Enc. 1 for Work Programme


